

UNIVERSITY OF GOTHENBURG school of business, economics and law

In Pursuit of Legitimacy: A Decade of Non-Financial Reporting in the European Automotive Industry

Authors: Lukas Lidvall and Viktor Rafstedt

Department of Graduate School. School of Business, Economics and Law at the University of Gothenburg

Supervisor: Berit Hartmann

Wednesday $7^{\rm th}$ June, 2023

Abstract

Non-Financial Reporting (NFR) has grown significantly in importance within corporate reporting, particularly in the automotive industry, which is struggling with substantial inherent environmental challenges. However, at the same time, many argue that the NFR in the automotive industry is lackluster and riddled with inconsistencies and information overload. Hence, this study delves into the evolution of NFR in the automotive industry over the past decade, pinpointing key catalysts of change in sustainability reporting. Employing a mixed methods approach, the data analysis of a sample of 27 non-financial reports from three firms is conducted in two stages: initially, a computer-aided frequency analysis to discern hot-spots, followed by a qualitative content analysis using the CONI method on the chosen reports.

Our findings demonstrate a rise in disclosure frequency and a subtle shift towards more quantitative data and specific targets. However, the firms studied displayed significant discrepancies in what their reports highlighted, indicating a lack of standardization in this field. Furthermore, regulations appear to have minimal influence on the firms' NFR development. Instead, legitimacy concerns seem to be the main driving force, further explaining the disparities between reports as different firms have varying primary legitimacy concerns.

In conclusion, the results of this study suggest that the current regulatory landscape is insufficient, placing legitimacy at in the drivers seat. Therefore, regulations need to be restructured to align with the requirements of regulators, the desires of stakeholders, and the objectives that firms aim to achieve, ultimately forging a landscape where NFRs include relevant information that can be effortlessly compared between firms.

Acknowledgements

We would like to express our deepest gratitude to our supervisor Berit Hartmann, whose inspiration throughout our entire graduate degree studies, guidance, support, and encouragement in this thesis project have been invaluable. Furthermore we would like to thank our seminar colleagues for their insightful feedback throughout this semester as well as all other staff at the university for their feedback.

Lukas Lidvall

Viktor Rafstedt

Gothenburg, 7 June 2023

Contents

	List	of Abbreviations	i
	List	of Figures	v
	List	of Tables	v
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Background	1
	1.2	Problem Discussion	1
	1.3	Purpose	2
	1.4	Research Questions	2
2	Lite	rature Review	3
	2.1	The Current State of NFR in the EU	3
	2.2	Reasons for Engaging in NFR	4
		2.2.1 Legitimacy	4
		2.2.2 Regulations \ldots	6
	2.3	NFR in the Automotive Industry	6
	2.4	Summary	8
3	Met	hodology 10	0
	3.1	Research Design	0
	3.2	Data Collection	1
	3.3	Data Analysis	2
		3.3.1 Natural Language Processing	3
		3.3.2 Manual Content Analysis	5
		3.3.3 Modified Consolidated Narrative Interrogation Method	6
	3.4	Research Quality	8
	3.5	Limitations	8
4	Res	ult & Analysis 19	9
	4.1	NLP Analysis	9
		4.1.1 Key Word Frequency Analysis	9
		4.1.2 Word Volume Analysis	3
	4.2	CONI	4
		4.2.1 Risk	4
		4.2.2 Development	7
		4.2.3 Emission	1
		4.2.4 Environmental	6
	4.3	How has sustainability reporting developed in the European automotive indus-	
		try over the last decade?	0
	4.4	What has been the main drivers for change regarding sustainability reporting? 4	1
		4.4.1 Regulations	1
		4.4.2 Legitimacy 4	1
5	Disc	cussion 4	3
	5.1	Legitimacy as a Driving Force	3
	5.2	The Role of Regulations	4

	5.3 Implications and Future Research	45
6	Conclusion	47
A	Appendix	55
	A.1 Appendix 1	55
	A.2 Appendix 2	55
	A.3 Appendix 3	57
	A.4 Appendix 4	63

List of Abbreviations

- CA: Content Analysis
- CONI: Consolidated Narrative Interrogation
- CSRD: Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive
- ESG: Environmental Social Governance
- EU: European Union
- EV: Electric Vehicle
- ETS: Emissions Trading System
- GRI: Global Reporting Initiative
- NFR: Non-financial reporting
- NFRD: Non-financial reporting directive
- NLP: Natural Language Processing
- SDG: Sustainable Development Goals
- UN: United Nations
- ZEV: Zero Emissions Vehicle

List of Figures

2.1	Reasons for Engaging in NFR	8
3.1	Analysis Overview	12
4.1	Word count by year, Volkswagen	19
4.2	Word count by year, Groupe PSA	20
4.3	Word count by year, Volvo Cars	20
4.4	All Companies Word Volume by Year	23
4.5	Volkswagen Risk Type Average & Disclosure Volume	25
4.6	Groupe PSA Risk Type Average & Disclosure Volume	26
4.7	Volvo Cars Risk Type Average & Disclosure Volume	27
4.8	Volkswagen Development Type Average & Disclosure Volume	29
4.9	Groupe PSA Development Type Average & Disclosure Volume	30
4.10	Volvo Cars Development Type Average & Disclosure Volume	31
4.11	Volkswagen Emission Type Average & Disclosure Volume	33
4.12	Groupe PSA Emission Type Average & Disclosure Volume	34
4.13	Volvo Cars Emission Type Average & Disclosure Volume	35
4.14	Volkswagen Environmental Type Average & Disclosure Volume	37
4.15	Groupe PSA Environmental Type Average & Disclosure Volume	38
4.16	Volvo Cars Environmental Type Average & Disclosure Volume	39

List of Tables

3.1	Selected companies, key stats (Bekker, 2023; Capital IQa:b:c, n.d.)	11
3.2	Disclosure Type Information Scale CONI Method (Beck et al., 2010)	17
4.1	Selected Reports After Key Word Frequency Analysis	23
4.2	Content Categorization, Risk	24
4.3	Content Categorization, Development	28
4.4	Content Categorization, Emission	32
4.5	Content Categorization, Environmental	36

Introduction

1.1 Background

Non-financial reporting (NFR) has become an increasingly important aspect of corporate reporting in recent years. The purpose of NFR is to disclose information that goes beyond traditional financial reporting, such as environmental, social, and governance (ESG) data, in order to provide stakeholders with a more comprehensive view of a company's performance and impact on society (Erkens et al., 2015). This practice originated from the notion that corporations should take a proactive stance on societal issues and engage in sustainability efforts, which was then translated into a broader form of reporting beyond mere financial metrics. Where companies engage in NFR for various reasons, including to legitimize their operations and demonstrate their social and environmental responsibility, to support their marketing efforts, and to comply with regulatory requirements (R. Gray et al., 1995).

The automotive industry presents an interesting case for studying NFR, as it is a highly regulated industry that faces significant environmental and social challenges. It's an industry going through a disruptive phase with the emergence of electric vehicles (EVs) and growing societal concerns about carbon emissions and climate change (McKinsey, 2021). Only two decades ago, electric vehicles (EV) were barely a topic within the industry. Fast forward to today, McKinsey (2021) predicts that EVs will have a 75% market share in the EU market as early as 2030, and VolvoCars (2023), which presented its first electric vehicle in 2019, aims to have 50% of their total sales being EV's as early as 2025.

Notably, the rise of EVs reflects the larger trend towards sustainability in the automotive industry, driven by both consumer demands and government regulations. Moreover, the adoption and application of technology and innovation play a significant role in how the industry responds to these challenges, making the industry's NFR even more crucial for stakeholders to understand the company's strategic direction and performance.

1.2 Problem Discussion

A consistent issue in the context of NFR is that the term NFR lacks a formal definition as opinions on what it means and entails in academia varies (Haller et al., 2017). This situation creates a potential inconsistency in the NFRs across industries and regions, as different firms might interpret and apply the concept based on their own interpretations or strategies (Deegan, 2002). In contrast to regional inconsistency, the European Union with the combination of having the NFRD implemented (EuropeanComission, 2023) and also being home to some of the largest automakers in world, makes it an interesting and solid base for further examination.

Moreover, the role of NFR has evolved over time, with companies increasingly using it as a tool to respond to specific events or scandals that affect their reputation and credibility (Corazza et al., 2020; Bellucci et al., 2021). The effective use of NFR in these situations is further complicated by the often diverse and sometimes conflicting interests of various stakeholders, making it challenging to determine which aspects should be included in the reports and how

they should be presented (Stolowy and Paugam, 2018).

Despite the growing importance of NFR and the unique context of the automotive industry, there are concerns about the quality and relevance of NFR disclosures (Stolowy and Paugam, 2018; Deegan, 2002). One key issue is the lack of a well-regulated environment that ensures that companies report relevant and reliable information (Singleton-Green and Hodgkinson, 2013). There is also a lack of consensus on what constitutes "good" NFR, and how it can be effectively regulated and standardized (Haller et al., 2017).

This lack of understanding and regulation is a problem for regulators and other stakeholders who need to be able to construct effective regulations that address the challenges of NFR in the automotive industry. For example, there is no clear consensus on what types of information should be disclosed in NFR, and how this information should be presented to stakeholders (Stolowy and Paugam, 2018; Haller et al., 2017).

In addition, it is not clear how various trends and events such as electrification, regulatory changes or scandals effect the long-term development of firms NFR since most available research has focused on immediate event responses, actual change to sustainability performance, or change in the usage of various frameworks such as the GRI (Boiral et al., 2022; Aluchna et al., 2022; Caputo et al., 2020; Breijer and Orij, 2022). As previously discussed, understanding how and why NFR develops, and especially how regulations effect the development, is vital for increasing the quality of NFR through future regulations. Hence, research into the topic is required to gain an understanding into whether the current state of NFR, which as per our previous discussions is bad, is due to regulations not having the intended effects or some other driving force which pushes the field into the wrong direction. Further, research of a historical overview nature has been called for by several scholars (Villiers et al., 2017; Parker, 2015)

1.3 Purpose

This thesis purpose is to provide insights into the development of NFR in the automotive industry over a ten-year period, from 2011 to 2021. Specifically, we aim to identify the specific purposes as to why NFR has developed over time and in extent how much of a effect the current regulations have had in the shaping of the current landscape of NFR within the European automotive industry. By exploring this question, we aim to contribute to a better understanding of NFR and its regulatory challenges, as well as provide insights for policymakers, regulators, and other stakeholders.

1.4 Research Questions

- 1. How has sustainability reporting developed in the European automotive industry over the last decade?
- 2. What has been the main drivers for change regarding sustainability reporting?

Literature Review

This chapter provides the literature review for this study. Firstly, we clarify our use of the term "NFR". Secondly, we discuss the three main areas of domain studies, which include "The Current State of NFR in the EU", "Reasons for engaging in NFR", and "NFR in the automotive industry". Lastly, we offer a brief discussion of the connections between the different areas.

2.1 The Current State of NFR in the EU

The term "Non-Financial Reporting (NFR)" is commonly used in various contexts and does not always refer to the same thing. Hence, in this thesis, NFR refers to the disclosure of information that is not directly related to a company's financial performance, but instead relates to its social, environmental, and governance (ESG) impacts and practices. This information can include a wide range of topics, such as a company's carbon emissions, labor practices, human rights policies, or community engagement initiatives. The purpose of NFR is to provide stakeholders with a more comprehensive and holistic understanding of a company's impact and value beyond its financial metrics and can be both included in the actual annual report of a firm or as a standalone document. (GlobalNAPS, 2017)

These practices are regulated by the European Union, specifically through the Non-Financial Reporting Directive (NFRD) – 2014/95/EU (EuropeanComission, 2023) which is the current legislation that firms within the EU must comply within the realm of NFR. This law applies to all large firms with over 500 employees and all publicly listed firms. In essence, the law requires public firms to disclose relevant information on environmental, social, human rights, anti-corruption and bribery, and board diversity matters. However, the law's lack of precision on what to report and the absence of standardization means that many firms choose to follow more structured reporting frameworks such as the Global Reporting Initiative standards (GRI, 2023). However, the NFRD is since January 5, 2023 replaced by the Corporate Sustainability Reporting Directive (CSRD) which applies to more firms. The first reports which will be directly effected by the CSRD will be the reports released in 2024. However, being aware of the CSRD in the context of this study is relevant since the CSRD could have a potential effect on the analysis in this thesis since firms will likely try to adapt to the new regulations before they are mandated to.

Despite the regulations, many scholars argue that the current requirements are insufficient and have had little effect on the quality and relevance of NFR disclosures (Stolowy and Paugam, 2018). Stolowy and Pangam argue that the increased demand for NFR has resulted in information overload, a sentiment echoed by Singleton-Green and Hodkinson (Singleton-Green and Hodgkinson, 2013). However, Singleton-Green and Hodkinson suggest that the criticism of information overload, whilst true, also is somewhat contradictory since most agree that there also is a lack of actual relevant information in NFRs. They point out that market and regulatory failures have led to this situation, highlighting the need for improved regulations. Stolowy and Paugam (2018) also argue that the lack of convergence between regulators such as the European Commission, standard setters such as the GRI, and leading sustainable firms is a significant issue with the current regulations. This lack of convergence contributes to the information overload present in modern-day NFR and reduces its relevance for stakeholders. Understanding why this convergence is absent is crucial, and this thesis aims to address this issue.

Furthermore, Haller highlights the issue of quality in NFR, specifically the lack of consensus on what constitutes "quality" (Haller et al., 2017). Stolowy and Paugam (2018) also share this sentiment, stating that there is no agreement on what "quality" means in the context of NFR. Despite the lack of consensus, the demand for "higher quality" NFR disclosures is frequently voiced. Therefore, it is necessary to establish a clear understanding of "quality" in NFR. While this thesis will not provide a definitive answer to this question, it aims to contribute to the improvement of convergence in NFR, which is a good first step toward agreeing on what constitutes high-quality NFR disclosures.

The lack of the discussed convergence between regulators, standard setters, and leading sustainable firms in the current regulations, as argued by Stolowy and Paugam (2018), can lead to a confusing and overwhelming NFR landscape. This is particularly relevant for stakeholders who rely on NFR to make informed decisions about a firm's sustainability performance. Additionally, the lack of agreement on what "quality" means in the context of NFR, as pointed out by Haller and Stolowy and Paugam (2018), further complicates the situation. This lack of clarity on what information should be included and how it should be presented can result in firms disclosing only what is required by law or omitting relevant information altogether. Hence, it is imperative to investigate how convergence can be improved in the NFR landscape, as this will contribute to the establishment of a standard for "quality" in NFR, which in turn will increase its relevance and usefulness for stakeholders. Hence, this study will contribute to this purpose through extending the current understanding regarding why firms engage in NFR which will be further discussed in the next section.

2.2 Reasons for Engaging in NFR

2.2.1 Legitimacy

According to Deegan (2002), legitimacy theory is a sociological theory that explains how organizations seek to maintain or gain legitimacy in the eyes of various stakeholder groups. In the context of accounting, legitimacy theory suggests that organizations must present their financial information in a way that is perceived as legitimate by external stakeholders to maintain or regain their trust and support from society and stakeholders. Deegan (2002) argues that one way organizations can seek to gain or maintain legitimacy is by providing comprehensive NFRs. These disclosures provide information about an organization's social and environmental impacts and can help to demonstrate the organization's commitment to meeting the expectations and values of its stakeholders. The use of social and environmental disclosures can have a legitimizing effect on an organization, as they may be perceived as evidence of the organization's responsibility and concern for the well-being of society and the environment. This, in turn, may lead to increased trust and support from external stakeholders. However, the use of sustainability disclosures can be complex, as there may be conflicting expectations and values among stakeholders, and organizations may face challenges in determining the appropriate level of disclosure. Additionally, the perceived credibility and reliability of social and environmental disclosures may vary among stakeholders, potentially affecting their effectiveness as a legitimization strategy. Therefore, although it is widely accepted that firms use NFR for legitimacy, it is not entirely clear in which contexts it is used, as well as how, but there are certain situations in which more concrete example can be found, such as in the case of scandals and the proceeding scandal management.

A specific case in which NFR was used to counter a scandal was the Costa Concordia disaster. which was studied by Corazza et al. (2020). Corazza found that Costa Cruises (the firm which owned Costa Concordia) made substantial changes to their NFR in the year following the disaster. However, according to Corazza et al. (2020), the strategy employed by Costa Cruises was to distract the reader away from the disaster and instead put focus on corporate information using images and textual tools. One might argue that it is strange for a firm not to focus NFR disclosures on a disaster of the scale of Costa Concordia. However, Corazza et al. (2020) argued that this strategy likely maximized the legitimizing effect of the NFR disclosures, as the accident was in hindsight avoidable, and "hiding" the disaster was basically Costa Cruises' only viable option. Nonetheless, there are instances related to scandals/crises where this has not been the imposed strategy. Bellucci et al. (2021) showed in their paper that when firms engage in NFR after a scandal, the strategy that has the most benefit to the firm is to be transparent and take full responsibility, as this makes the firm be perceived as less hypocritical. Therefore, these two studies show that there is no one-size-fits-all approach to NFR disclosures after a scandal or crisis. It is relevant to further explore when firms use NFR in relation to scandals so that regulators can develop regulations that make NFR yield the information that is actually relevant to stakeholders.

Beyond reactionary changes to NFR such as scandal management, there are also more subtle changes which in accordance with Stolowy and Paugam (2018) leads to information overflow. One possible source of the additional information could be marketing-related content. which could also be called firms legitimizing themselves towards customers. While NFR's are intended to serve both shareholders and stakeholders. Lindgren et al. (2021) found that NFR's are more geared towards satisfying the needs of shareholders than stakeholders. Shareholders, as representatives of investors and public opinion of the firm and its products, can be a suitable audience for marketing efforts, making NFR's a potentially valuable forum for conducting such efforts. Although few studies have been conducted specifically on how firms approach marketing in their sustainability reports, annual reports in general have been found to be commonly used for marketing purposes (Stanton and Stanton, 2002). Furthermore, as Gallego-Alvarez et al. (2010) and other scholars suggest, non-financial information such as sustainability information is an efficient area for firms to market their products or services. Thus, it is reasonable to assume that marketing strategies and techniques commonly used in annual reports could be applied to NFRs, given the flexibility of the information contained therein, the efficiency of marketing non-financial information, and the suitability of NFR readers as marketing targets.

Beyond marketing towards customers, in line with S. Gray (1988), NFR can also serve as a means for firms to manage their social and environmental impacts and improve their image with stakeholders. Gray argues that firms engage in social and environmental reporting not only to provide information to external stakeholders but also to "rationalize and justify their social and environmental behavior" internally. Through the process of compiling NFR, firms may gain a better understanding of their own social and environmental impacts and identify areas where they can improve. Additionally, NFR may help firms to better communicate their sustainability goals and initiatives to employees and other internal stakeholders, which can foster a culture of sustainability within the organization.

2.2.2 Regulations

Another reason for firms to engage in NFR is that they are legally obliged to do so. This applies to all firms within the scope of the studies, as well as to all EU firms that meet two of the three following criteria: (1) More than 250 employees, (2) More than €40 million net turnover, (3) More than €20 million on the statement of financial position (GrantThornton, 2022). While firms are required to file NFRs, the contents of those reports are less detailed and mostly up to the firm. Thereto, one can also make the argument that firms might be prone to be more "responsible" in their NFR efforts to avoid being more heavily regulated in the future. Hence, it is possible that some firms engage in NFR as an effort of regulatory capture (Bó, 2006). However, whilst this might be the case, it will be exceedingly hard to detect in the scope of this study, but it is a potential area for future research.

Furthermore, it is also relevant to note that the latest round of legislation introduced by the EuropeanComission (2023) requires all NFR to be audited, which was not mandatory before. Hence, all the reports analyzed in this thesis will not be non-voluntary audited by a third party. Also, it should be noted that several studies referenced in this thesis have been conducted on firms outside the EU, which are not subject to the same regulations regarding NFR. While selecting studies to include in the thesis, the authors have considered this aspect.

All in all, regulations will play a role in what firms report. However, it is not shown in previous research how vital of a role regulations play in the shaping of sustainability reports over-time since it is not impossible that legitimacy concern trump the current regulations which would lead to regulations having little to no effect. Hence, this study will set out to identify if regulations and changes in regulations have played a part in development of the sustainability reports of today or if the concern for legitimacy already covers what is mandated by regulations and beyond. Further, the automotive industries changing nature which will be discussed in the forthcoming section which will provide extra nuance to this issue.

2.3 NFR in the Automotive Industry

The automotive industry is a sector that has come under scrutiny for its environmental impact, with concerns over emissions and sustainability driving the industry to shift its focus towards cleaner and more sustainable practices (McKinsey, 2021). As a result, non-financial reporting (NFR) has become increasingly important for automotive firms, as they seek to demonstrate their commitment to sustainability and responsible business practices to stakeholders. One reason why the automotive industry is a significant driver of NFR is due to its size and

importance in the global economy (Beretta et al., 2021). Automotive firms are among the largest and most influential companies in the world, and their operations have a significant impact on the environment and society (Pohl, 2021). As a result, automotive firms are under increasing pressure from stakeholders, including investors, consumers, and regulators, to improve their sustainability practices and disclose relevant information through NFR.

The shift towards sustainability in the automotive industry is expected to lead to a change in the way that firms approach NFR. Studies have shown that there is a positive correlation between environmental performance and the quality of environmental disclosures, suggesting that firms with poor sustainability practices are less likely to have comprehensive and insightful NFR in this area. For instance, a study by Herbohn et al. (2014) found that Australian mining companies with higher environmental performance tended to have higher-quality environmental disclosures. Similarly, Lodhia et al. (2022) found that the top 50 Australian firms tended to focus on positive sustainability impacts in their reporting, rather than negative impacts, suggesting that firms with poor sustainability performance may be less likely to disclose negative impacts. Furthermore, in their analysis of French firms, Bacha and Ajina (2019) found that firms with higher sustainability performance tended to have more readable and comprehensive annual reports, while firms with lower sustainability performance were more ambiguous and less detailed in their reporting. These findings suggest that firms may use NFR as a way to demonstrate their commitment to sustainability and responsible business practices, but may also use it as a marketing tool to promote positive aspects of their business. Additionally studies such as those by S. Gray (1988) and Bellucci et al. (2021) have shed light on some of the more explored motivations for NFR, such as a legitimizing strategy and scandal/crisis management. These insights from other sectors opens up for possibility of observing similar patterns in the automotive industry.

While regulations and legitimacy are well-known reasons for firms to engage in NFR, there may be other reasons as well. For example, some firms may see NFR as a means to differentiate themselves from competitors and gain a competitive advantage (Beretta et al., 2021). By highlighting their sustainability efforts and social responsibility in NFR, these firms may attract customers who prioritize these values in their purchasing decisions. However it shall also be noted that some firms may engage in NFR simply because they believe it is the right thing to do. These firms may see social and environmental responsibility as an inherent part of their corporate identity and view NFR as a way to demonstrate their commitment to these values.

Given the growing importance of sustainability in the automotive industry, it is likely that NFR will continue to be a key tool for firms seeking to demonstrate their commitment to sustainability and responsible business practices. As the industry shifts towards more sustainable practices, we can expect to see changes in the types of disclosures that firms make in their NFR, as well as the level of detail and comprehensiveness of those disclosures. This makes the analysis of NFR in the automotive industry an important area of research, as it can provide insights into how firms are responding to the growing demand for sustainability and responsible business practices, and how they are using NFR to communicate their efforts to stakeholders. This field is something this thesis sets out to extend by analyzing what actually drives the development of NFR.

2.4 Summary



Figure 2.1: Reasons for Engaging in NFR

This literature review highlights the known drivers behind why firms engage in NFR, as shown in 2.1. The realm of Legitimacy entails three main pillars which drive why firms engage in sustainability reporting to strengthen their legitimacy in the form of stakeholder expectations, scandal response and marketing. In regards to regulations, the NFRD and CSRD are the two main legislations which could affect EU automotive firms to make developments to their reporting. However, in regard to regulations firms could also change in order to try to shape future regulations through regulatory capture.

Currently, many scholars such as Stolowy and Paugam (2018) and Singleton-Green and Hodgkinson (2013) argue that the quality of NFR in the EU is lackluster. A common theme behind this opinion is the prevalence of information overload which makes it difficult to both find relevant information in reports as well as comparing reports between firms. Stolowy and Paugam (2018) believes that the main factor behind the observed information overload is a lack of convergence between stakeholders regarding both the intended purpose and readers of NFR. Henceforth, both Stolowy and Paugam, 2018 and Haller et al., 2017 agrees the current state of NFR in the EU even lacks a clear understanding of what "high quality" NFR even is.

Hence, to be able to understand what "high quality reporting" acctually is, it is important to understand why firms even engage in NFR in the first place. Previous studies highlights two main reasons, either to improve the image of the firm (legitimacy), or simply becouse they are mandeted to (regulations). Regarding legitimacy, an area that has been widely covered by previous research is how firms manage their legitimacy after legitimacy-damaging scandals, such as the Costa Concordia disaster. In analyzing the aftermath of the Costa Concordia disaster in regards to Costa Cruises NFR, Corazza et al. (2020) found significant changes in the reportings which tendered towards increasing the legitimacy of Costa Cruises towards its stakeholders.

Further, other forms of legitimacy driven motivations such as publishing NFR's for marketings purposes (Stanton and Stanton (2002); Gallego-Álvarez et al. (2010)) or general stakehold-er/investor image improvement (S. Gray, 1988). As argued by Stolowy and Paugam (2018), this is likely the main reasons to why the information overload in NFR is observed.

Regarding NFR in specifically the automotive industry, as argued by Beretta et al. (2021), the industries position as both influential and impactful to both the global economy and the sustainability landscape leads to a higher level of scrutiny of the firms NFR's. Hence, automotive firms can be expected to put above average efforts into how their NFR's are structured and formulated. Furthermore, in line with Herbohn et al. (2014) and Lodhia et al. (2022), as the industry is in a state of change towards being more sustainable (McKinsey, 2021), the NFR which is published is likely to improve in their quality as the firms sustainability performance improves.

Overall, understanding the range of reasons for firms to engage in NFR is important for regulators and stakeholders. By gaining a better understanding of the motivations behind NFR, regulators can develop more targeted and effective regulations that meet the needs of all stakeholders. Additionally, stakeholders can gain a better understanding of the factors that drive firms to engage in NFR, which can help them to interpret and evaluate NFR disclosures more effectively.

Methodology

The following section presents the methodology applied in this study. Firstly, the research approach and design is presented and motivated. Secondly the data collection methods used are described and likewise motivated. Thereafter an outline of the data analysis approach is presented and finally the chapter is concluded with a discussion on research quality and methodological limitations of the study.

3.1 Research Design

This thesis adopts pragmatism as its foundational research philosophy to examine the development of sustainability reporting practices within the European automotive industry. Pragmatism emphasizes the practical and real-world application of knowledge, prioritizing the usefulness and effectiveness of theories in solving real-world problems (Kaushik & Walsh, 2019). That is, we the authors put little emphasis on what paradigm a given method traditionally belongs to, the sole concern is to use the methods that have the highest potential of providing the answers we are after (Feilzer, 2010). Aligning with the reasoning by Modell (2010) the mixed methods approach grants the possibility to combine qualitative and quantitative methods to comprehensively understand our research problem. By utilizing a pragmatic mixed methods approach, this study aims to provide regulators and other stakeholders with insights into the drivers of change in the industry's non-financial reporting practices. Pragmatism posits that reality is ever-changing, and knowledge is created and validated through experience, emphasizing the usefulness of a theory rather than its absolute truth (Kaushik & Walsh, 2019). Through this pragmatic lens, the researchers seek to identify and analyze the factors that influence the development of sustainability reporting practices in the industry, without providing any specific solutions or policy proposals. By doing so, this research aims to contribute to the body of knowledge on non-financial reporting practices in the industry and inform regulatory and stakeholder decision-making.

As noted the study applies a mixed methods content analysis to examine a series of sustainability reports from the three actors within the European automotive industry. The mixed methods approach is well aligned with the pragmatic philosophy, in the strive of practicality and usefulness and the dual characteristics of the data at hand, both qualitative and quantitative a mixed methods approach is warranted (Feilzer, 2010). This is aimed to be conducted through textual analysis based on a combination of computer- aided natural language processing (NLP) and a manual content analysis. The purpose of this methodological approach is to provide qualitative insight in the matter of how the reporting efforts in terms of non-financial reporting have developed over time and what has driven change in this area. The motivation behind leveraging NLP in conjunction with manual coding in the traditional sense is to increase the feasibility of handling a larger sample of annual reports in line with the reasoning of (Abram et al., 2020). In this case that is a timeframe of ten years for these three companies. The decade-long timeframe (2011-2021) is not only feasible due to the mixed methods approach, but relevant. For reasons that it captures the both the introduction of the NFRD (announced in 2014 and implemented in 2018), the ongoing sustainable transformation of the automotive industry as well as both short and long term effects of scandals such as that of Volkswagen AG Dieselgate (Aichner et al., 2021).

3.2 Data Collection

The data used in this study is the sustainability reports produced and distributed by the firms themselves as mandated by the NFRD. (EuropeanComission, 2023). The initial sampling choice of only focusing on European firms is motivated by having as high of a geographical and societal homogeneity as possible in the sample. This with the aim to be representative for the underlying population of study as Patton (2002) highlights to be an objective of qualitative sampling. Additionally, the prevalence of NFRD (EuropeanComission, 2023) and its relative standing in terms of global regulatory standards makes the EU-region a solid ground for comparing NFR practices over time and across firms. All of the selected companies have been subject to the requirements presented in the NFRD during its existence, with the three of them being publicly traded and having over 500 employees (ibid).

Thereafter it is determined that the focus is on only the automotive industry with the motivation being the huge environmentally driven transformation the industry has and is going through (Capgemini, 2022). Further, as discussed previously in this thesis, the industry is due to its size and nature of operations a main driver in terms of sustainable impact. When such an industry goes through a transformation, internalizing the regulatory requirements as operational strategies, it is of interest to examine the development and its core aspects over time. That is, adapting their business model to align with the regulatory requirements.

Company	Origin	Seat	Market share	No. Employees	Public listing
Volkewagon AC	Cormony	Wolfsburg,	24 20%	645 868	Frankfurt Stock
VOIKSwagell AG	Germany	Germany	Germany 24,20%		Exchange
		Hoofddorp,			Euronext Paris
Groupe PSA	France	the Netherlands	10 2007	979 367	(Borsa Italiana,
(Stellantis)	(Italian-american)	(Rueil-Malmaison,	16,2070	212 301	New York Stock
		France)			Exchange)
Volue Care	Sweden	Gothenburg,	2 2007	42 200	Nasdag Stoelsholm
volvo Cars	Sweden	Sweden	2,2070	43 200	Nasdaq Stockholm

Table 3.1: Selected companies, key stats (Bekker, 2023; Capital IQa:b:c, n.d.)

The choice of three of the most prominent automotive manufacturers in Europe (Table 3.1) is motivated by the fact that these actors control a large portion of the European market (Bekker, 2023). In order to gain a geographically diverse sample the choice fell on Germany, France (now Italian-American)¹ and Sweden. Additionally the three actors represent a diverse set of the market, from the segment of premium cars to more affordable "peoples cars".

With regards to retrieving the required data (NFRs), the process involves visiting the equivalent of an investor relations section on the respective company website, browse through each year and download the report in PDF format. Of the 30 sought after reports it was possible to publicly retrieve 27 of them, the three missing reports where the 2015 Sustainability report of Volkswagen and the 2013 and 2015 reports respectively of Groupe PSA. Amongst the missing report, Volkswagens 2015 report stands out since it was during 2015 the dieselgate scandal occurred ("Volkswagen emissions scandal", 2023). Hence, the report would have been extra interesting to examine in regard to scandal management. However, after a thorough search,

¹Groupe PSA merged with Fiat-Chrysler in 2021. (Stellantis, 2021)

the report could not be acquired as it seems to have been removed from the internet, for which purpose this thesis will not speculate. All of the examined reports are listed in Appendix 4, and the corresponding .pdf files are available in this projects repository (Rafstedt & Lidvall, 2023).

3.3 Data Analysis

The main proposed method of analysis is the conventional form of content analysis as defined by Hsieh and Shannon (2005) as the systematic coding and categorization of texts, images and alike with the aim of identifying patterns and themes based on the data itself. This approach of analysis will grant the opportunity to describe in a qualitative sense how the act of non-financial reporting has evolved over time within the automotive industry. Figure 3.1 shows an overview of the analysis process conducted.

Textual analysis in general is commonly used within qualitative research to analyze and interpret written language and depending on approach provide researchers with an indication of the underlying assumptions or values portrayed through text or the insights of the more formal type when leveraging coding and categorization methods (Patton, 2002). As stated at the start of this chapter, this study leverages both aspects through a mixed methods approach. Doing so by letting the more formally leaning NLP approach be the filtering process by which semantic trends and hot-spots that might be of interest can be highlighted and let the more nuanced manual content analysis focus on those areas. The following figure (3.1) gives an overview of the methods used in this study.



Figure 3.1: Analysis Overview

3.3.1 Natural Language Processing

This section refers to the first part of the analysis conducted through the use of (Figure 3.1) Natural language processing (NLP). Which is a field within computer science often linked to artificial intelligence and has its basis in the interaction between computers and humans through natural language, i.e human language (Fisher et al., 2016). In the context of textual analysis, NLP methods can be used to automate the process of analyzing large bodies of unstructured textual data, and identifying key words and phrases, categorizing text by topic as well as estimating sentiment. The nature of NLP makes it particularly useful for analyzing large bodies of text efficiently and in a faster manner than its manual counterpart, however with these benefits comes the risk of losing subtle details or nuance.

The NLP-process starts with parsing the text. Parsing the sustainability reports and extracting text can be challenging due to the unstructured nature of the data and the prevalence of various images and figures. To address this issue, an author-developed script in the programming language Python (Van Rossum & Drake, 2009) is used to extract the text from the PDF files (Part 1 of Figure 3.1). The code developed in this thesis can be found in the GitHub repository (Rafstedt & Lidvall, 2023). Once the text has been retrieved from the corpus of data, a range of data pre-processing steps are done in order to improve the algorithm (Part 1, Figure 3.1).

Pre-processing steps:

- 1. Tokenization: breaking down text into smaller chunks, commonly words. (Microsoft, 2023)
- 2. Lower-casing: the process of making all characters lower-case. (TowardsDataScience, 2022)
- 3. Stop-word removal: the process of removing common words such as "the," "and," and "or" that do not carry any meaning individually and risk skewing the analysis. (IBM, 2021)
- 4. Lemmatization: the concept of reducing words to their root form to improve analysis accuracy by treating variations of a word as a single word. For example, for most NLP purposes "running" and "run" have the same meaning, but will however be treated as two different words in their base form. Hence, lemmatization is used to reduce "running" to its root form "run". (McCarthy & Boonthum-Denecke, 2012)
- 5. Word Selection: This concept is more niche towards the purpose of this thesis. Given the purpose of analyzing sustainability related words, the noice from all non-sustainability related words, which naturally makes up the bulk of the words, needs to be filtered. Hence, a pre-defined list of set sustainability words (which structure will be discussed below) works as a filter so all non-sustainability related words gets removed. However, it should be noted that a non-filtered version also exists which will be utilized later on in the qualitative analysis, were the non-sustainability related words provide the needed context.
- 6. Header/Footer cleanup: Whilst analyzing the data, it was identified that some phrases that were located in the header/footer of some sustainability reports drastically increased some word counts, however, as the words only appeared in every header they had no meaning. Hence, the phrases "sustainability report" (if mentioned in the text if would be self-referencing to the sustainability report itself which was deemed to be meaningless to the purpose of this thesis), "corporate social responsibility", and "strategic guidelines, commitments and indicators" was removed.

ESG Key Word List

With regards to step 5) of the pre-processing, a potential risk associated with using a predefined word list for filtering is the imposition of the authors' biases on the final results by inadvertently excluding relevant words. Nevertheless, filtering is essential for obtaining meaningful results. Consequently, a list of 141 sustainability-related words has been meticulously compiled and is provided in Appendix 1. (This component of the analysis is attributable to Part 1, Figure 3.1).

Given the relative absence of a suitable pre-existing list, the authors of this thesis initiated the process by creating a list of all pertinent sustainability-related words they could conceive. Furthermore, to complement the list, the GRI (n.d.) and the well aligned HSBC (n.d.) glossaries has been advised to fill out any potential gaps. Further to mitigate the risk of biases in the list and to address any potential gaps, the generative AI model ChatGPT, n.d. was employed to expand the word list. The prompt utilized to generate the comprehensive list is available in Appendix 2.

Word-Frequency Analysis

The NLP-method which was deemed to be most suitable to the purpose of this thesis is word-frequency analysis (Figure 3.1). Other methods, mainly topic modeling and sentiment analysis, were considered as well; however, there were several reasons that led to the selection of word-frequency analysis over these alternatives. Word-Frequency analysis is a proven method for analyzing larger sets of data and has been applied in countless previous studies (Rajput et al. (2020); Roberts et al. (2006); Petrova et al. (2012))

First, word-frequency analysis enables a more granular understanding of the language used in sustainability reporting, allowing researchers to identify specific terms and phrases that are important for capturing changes in reporting practices. This level of detail is crucial for understanding how sustainability reporting has evolved over the past decade. Topic modeling, while useful for discovering latent themes in large collections of text, might overlook subtle shifts in the use of particular terms or phrases that are indicative of changing priorities and concerns within the European automotive industry.

Second, word-frequency analysis is more focused on the actual terminology used in sustainability reporting, which is in line with the research objective of analyzing the development of sustainability reporting over the last 10 years. This method allows for the identification of specific words and phrases that have become more or less prevalent in the reports, providing valuable insights into the evolving priorities and concerns of European automotive firms. In contrast, topic modeling groups documents into broader themes, which may not directly capture the specific terminology changes of interest.

Third, sentiment analysis primarily focuses on the polarity of the text, determining whether the content is positive, negative, or neutral. While this can provide useful information, it may not be as relevant for the research question at hand, as it does not directly address the development of sustainability reporting in terms of content and terminology. Moreover, sentiment analysis can be challenging to apply to the complex and specialized language found in sustainability reports, leading to potential inaccuracies and misinterpretations. In summary, word-frequency analysis was chosen for this thesis because it offers a more granular, focused, and relevant approach for the purpose of this thesis. While topic modeling and sentiment analysis have their merits, they were ultimately deemed less suitable for the specific research objectives of this study.

Word-Volume Analysis

A weakness of word-frequency analysis is that, in this way of implementing it, it does not capture the relationship between a word and the total amount of words in the report, i.e, how focused the word was. Thus, to capture potential differences in the sheer volume of words in the sustainability reports, which can be relevant to the analysis, an analysis of the total word-volume (Figure 3.1) in each report is also performed.

3.3.2 Manual Content Analysis

Human coding of textual data involves the researcher reading and interpreting the text manually, and consequently assigning codes or labels to represent key themes, ideas, or concepts to the data. This process can be done in many ways however for the purpose of this study the aim is to deploy a value-free coding schema based on the themes and patterns that we observe in the data. That is, the conventional form of content analysis as defined by Hsieh and Shannon (2005).

Content analysis (CA) in general as defined by Weber (1990) is a research method that uses a given set of procedures to make inferences of textual data. He also points out in his book on the some of the advantages of content analysis where the following three stand out he most;

- "Communication is a central aspect of social interaction. Content-analytic procedures operate directly on text or transcripts of human communications.",
- "The best content-analytic studies use both qualitative and quantitative operations on texts. Thus content analysis methods combine what are usually thought to be antithetical modes of analysis",
- "Compared with techniques such as interviews, content analysis usually yields unobtrusive measures, in which neither the sender nor the receiver of the message is aware that it is being analyzed..." (Weber, 1990).

The three aspects resonate well with this study, firstly the researchers recognize the value and effect of human communication in society and with regards to the textual data at hand, and the multifaceted purpose such information serves. Secondly, inclusion of a NLP approach, partially leaned towards the quantitative side of methods, i.e word frequency's, topic modeling etc. combined with the qualitative content analysis aligns with the notion that a mixed methods approach to a study built on CA is highly beneficial. Thirdly, the benefit of having the creation of the data-set separated from the study serves our purpose of providing research of high validity.

In their 2010 paper Beck et al. (2010) proposes an extension of the conventional form of content analysis, and names it the Consolidated narrative interrogation method. The method is to be seen as a combination of the mechanistic and interpretative approaches to content analysis. Where the former , focuses strictly on volumetric and or frequency measurement and the later instead takes on a more "meaning oriented" form, i.e focus is on identifying

the underlying meaning and themes of the words in question. With the aim of obtaining an in-depth understanding of what is communicated and how.

The method is used to analyze disclosure content for diversity and depth. Differing from traditional binary index scoring systems, CONI utilizes a matrix approach to record various variables related to disclosure content. In the original paper Beck et al. (2010) draws from established categories and incorporates new sub-categories from a pilot study. CONI allows for both quantitative and qualitative assessment of disclosures, offering a thorough evaluation of information content and character.

For the purpose of this paper however, a slight modification of the CONI-method was done. That is, as opposed to formulating pre-determined categories and sub-categories based on previous literature etc. We instead used the NLP-analysis and it's accompanying word list to highlight potential points of interest in the reports, this is further explained in the following section. With regards to the consecutive steps, they follow the original version of the CONI method (Beck et al., 2010).

3.3.3 Modified Consolidated Narrative Interrogation Method

Step 0: NLP Term generation - Hot-spot identification

Drawing on the NLP-analysis initially conducted, a series of relevant terms was derived from the data corpora, i.e the extracted textual data from the NFRs (Part 1, Final step, Figure 3.1). These terms where then used as search terms when conducting step one and two of the CONI method. Observing the NLP-analysis output, we could, based on number of occurrences and the development in frequency over time find what we refer to as hot-spots. This step gave us the 6 reports of the initial 30 that where deemed to need further examination.

Step 1: Coding content diversity

For the first step of the CONI method, all instances of the chosen search terms (from step 0) based on the number of occurrence and indication of a trend or development, where extracted together with its context (Part 2, Step 1, Figure 3.1). The context is represented by the 50 words before and after the term instance. To extract this, a python script has been developed (Rafstedt & Lidvall, 2023) that takes each mentioning of a word and extract the 50 words before and after it and put the result in a list which finally is exported to excel. The resulting excel dataset is then humanly coded for disclosure content by the authors following an open coding process, assigning codes based on the underlying meaning/subject of the given disclosure instance. Hence, in difference to the original method developed by Beck et al., 2010 where main-categories are defined and search words is used to find where the main categories are mentioned, this thesis version of the CONI-method already have a pre-defined search word, which is then analyzed in the context of the paper in regards to which main-category it is mentioned in.

Step 2: Coding on information scale

After coding for content diversity in step 1, the same set of disclosures for each firm was coded on the information type scale (Beck et al., 2010). Also by manually by the authors (Part 2, Step 2, Figure 3.1). Each disclosure was given a rating of 1-5 based on the type of reporting (Table 3.2). Where low scores on the scale indicate lower quality disclosures, predominantly narrative in form. In contrast the higher end of the spectrum represents a high level of disclosure quality, where a given subject is both numerically, narrative and comparably disclosed.

Disclosure	Definition	Examples
Type		
1	Disclosure addresses issue	"to create modern cars that meet the travel needs of the
	related to category defini-	population while reducing the societal and environmental
	tion; pure narrative	impact as much as possible" (Volvo Cars, 2013)
2	Disclosure addresses issue	"The irregularities in the handling of emission tests con-
	related to category and	tradict everything that we stand for. We regret this im-
	provides details; pure nar-	mensely and are aware that we have let our stakeholders
	rative	down. We will do everything in our power to prevent inci-
		dents of this kind from reoccurring" (Volkswagen, 2016)
3	Disclosure addresses issue	"For remanufactured product lines , average raw-
	related to category in nu-	material usage is reduced 60-95% while CO2 emission
	merical way; purely quan-	are cut 30-50% compared with new-part production"
	titative	(Groupe PSA, 2021)
4	Disclosure addresses issue	"Since 2018 , we have achieved a 9.5 per cent reduction
	related to category in	per average vehicle. The result is in line with our expected
	numerical way, including	trajectory towards our cli- mate ambition. We saw a sig-
	qualitative explanations;	nificant reduction in our tailpipe emission thanks to strong
	narrative and quantitative	demand for our Recharge vehicles. The fully electric vehi-
		cle (BEV) proportion of our global sales will continue to
		increase" (Volvo Cars, 2021)
5	Any numerical disclosure	"to well over 40% by 2030 and are therefore within
	to the category includ-	the current Administration's target range. 0 20 40 60
	ing qualitative statements	80 100 120 140 160 147 151 144 158 155 1 2 2021 2020
	demonstrating year com-	2019 2018 2017 in grams per kilometer by model year"
	parisons; narrative, quanti-	(Volkswagen, 2021) [Table format]
	tative and comparable	

Table 3.2: Disclosure Type Information Scale CONI Method (Beck et al., 2010)

Step 3: Volumetric measurement

The final step of the CONI-method is the volumetric measurement. In this instance, the frequency distribution of disclosure content category, and disclosure type is computed and visualized (Part 2, Step 3, Figure 3.1). This steps lets us determine what categories that are given more or less space in the reports, and how that may have changed over time and across firms. The disclosure volume could be seen as a proxy for disclosure importance, at least from the perspective of the firms.

3.4 Research Quality

As presented earlier, this thesis seeks to examine the development of non-financial reporting practices and the main drivers of change in the European automotive industry over the last decade. In terms of the level of generalization, it can be argued that the conclusions inferred on the industry may be of lesser validity. This due to the relatively small sample of three studies companies, however a counter argument to that position is the fact that these three actors, mainly Volkswagen AG and Stellantis represent such a large portion of the European car market (Bekker, 2023).

To make sure the research is of high reliability, several measures to ensure the quality of our research design and methodology has been taken. As discussed above, the fact that we are two researchers in analyzing the sustainability reports, both have jointly formulated clear instructions and criteria for analyzing the reports to avoid any inconsistencies. With the objective of ensuring robustness of the manual analysis, the coding process was done with the researchers sitting together and jointly discussing the process when starting on a new key word. There after we continued individually but constantly having the ability to discuss uncertainties with the other researcher. Furthermore, the same NLP script and settings for each analysis is used to avoid any discrepancies that may arise from using different scripts. Additionally the source code and all data will be open sourced and available for future researcher to replicate, at least the NLP part of the study in the exact manner as here. Lastly, we have established clear criteria for selecting which reports to analyze to ensure that the analysis is consistent across all reports, i.e the non-financial reports or integrated reports. These measures taken are well discussed but are all in this case inspired by (Creswell, 2014) who states that ensuring the reliability of a study is essential for establishing credibility in the given research.

3.5 Limitations

As mentioned, it was not possible to gather all 30 reports for analysis due to some reports not being available online. Despite this obstacle, we maintain that it does not substantially undermine our study given that the primary aim is to evaluate the development over the past ten years. In other words, missing a few years does not mean that the general trend is not captured. However, it is worth noting that this limitation could potentially lead to overlooking certain subtleties or specific reactions if they were encapsulated in the absent reports, which potentially could improve our findings. That said, our results in their current form are not necessarily compromised due to the lack of some reports. Rather, the inclusion of these missing reports might have provided an opportunity for improving our findings further.

Another limitation is the ESG keyword list (Appendix 1). The study is limited by the list in the sense that only developments which is related to the words in the list will be identified. Hence, if any words of substance was not included in the list, the development would be missed out on. However, in the same fashion as the missing reports, missing words in the list do not implicate that the findings that we have are lacking. Rather, including any words that are currently potentially missing in the list could have enriched our findings.

Result & Analysis

The following chapter presents the result of this study. Firstly, the results from the NLPsection and the CONI analysis are presented, including analysis and remarks from the initial result. Then, the results are analyzed in conjunction with that the answers to the research questions are presented.

4.1 NLP Analysis

4.1.1 Key Word Frequency Analysis

The results of the NLP pre-study is presented through three heat-maps. The heat-maps in their entirety can be viewed in (Appendix 3). However, in this section, a compact view of the three respective heat-maps (Figure 4.1, 4.2, 4.3) will be discussed where only the words chosen for qualitative analysis are highlighted. The green color scale indicates the frequency of the term, where the darker shade represents the highest numbers. The opposite y-axis lists all examined words and each column represents a given reporting year on the x-axis.

			W	ord cou	nts by y	/ear: Vo	lkswag	en				
management -	113	213	281	283	243	372	311	258	275	336	- 3	50
sustainability -	109	209	174	166	178	143	158	141	188	200		
emission -	110	186	164	181	204	151	151	147	130	130	- 3	00
environmental -	143	175	189	240	208	117	94	94	115	138		
risk -	39	108	94	97	9B	111	115	169	200	230	- 2	50
development -	108	102	144	155	190	103	78	87	71	99		
energy -	136	140	100	109	114	76	75	82	87	75	2	00
water -	6B	119	82	66	103	42	53	31	39	38	- 1	50
supply -	27	29	26	36	37	32	54	85	98	103		
safety -	46	45	60	73	56	53	39	40	52	44	- 1	00
human -	14	31	16	29	31	69	42	84	89	102		
dimate -	23	63	42	34	29	25	29	47	51	74	- 5	0
decarbonization -	0	0	0	0	4	9	19	39	62	67		,
	2027	2012	2013	2014	2026	2027	2020	2012	2020	2022	0	,

Figure 4.1: Word count by year, Volkswagen

				a counco	, by year	· oroups	1 5/1		
emission -	26	263	305	413	449	497	498	498	567
risk -	4	183	266	348	360	395	479	503	686
management -	26	239	310	399	379	433	428	443	473
environmental -	21	247	320	459	435	438	367	364	311
development -	84	212	236	319	332	327	369	386	447
safety -	15	234	287	318	322	342	361	374	369
human -	9	83	170	208	219	226	290	304	337
energy -	6	123	157	214	233	241	249	257	319
supply -	8	29	85	141	161	171	176	194	365
water -	1	63	103	143	136	147	156	162	203
dimate -	0	35	23	36	43	62	224	230	271
sustainability -	0	5	16	38	26	30	33	30	64
decarbonization -	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	20
	2027	2022	2024	2026	2027	2020	2012	2020	2022

Word counts by year: GroupePSA

Figure 4.2: Word count by year, Groupe PSA

				Word	counts	by yea	r: Volv	o Cars				
risk -	33	29	43	47	10	191	250	244	221	283		- 350
safety -	126	136	165	162	134	90	110	97	77	70	71	
emission -	92	107	111	125	72	69	67	60	136	164	205	- 300
management -	59	51	79	81	35	116	114	117	136	145	197	- 250
development -	71	72	64	82	37	128	130	123	95	91	155	
sustainability -	38	58	68	84	71	6B	103	104	130	124	177	- 200
environmental -	102	127	166	159	60	29	36	32	30	28	35	
energy -	80	69	73	65	6B	52	57	60	66	62	113	- 150
supply -	15	19	19	21	21	18	30	53	54	57	102	100
dimate -	25	17	12	12	16	23	21	21	18	61	151	100
human -	58	35	30	26	19	22	48	33	18	16	25	- 50
water -	33	49	48	47	22	23	22	16	15	11	39	
	2027	2022	2013	2024	2015	202	2027	2020	2029	2020	2022	

Figure 4.3: Word count by year, Volvo Cars

The words that has been selected for further analysis are *risk*, *development*, *emission*, and *environmental*. Whilst it could have been relevant to include more words in the qualitative analysis. These four broad terms and their respective frequency and change over the period are deemed to be enough to shed light on how non-financial reporting has developed in the industry over time. Bellow follows the specific motivation for each selected term.

Selected Words:

Risk - was selected for further qualitative analysis since it both had a high number of mentions across all firms as well as showing a distinct increase in its amount of mentions over time (Figure 4.1, 4.2, 4.3) Furthermore, it is not obvious as to why risk incrementally have increased over the examined time period.

Development - was selected for further qualitative analysis since it is for one highly mentioned across all firms (Figure 4.1, 4.2, 4.3). However, whilst the frequency show clear patterns over-time for all firms, the pattern is not the same for all firms where Volkswagen (Figure 4.1) have noticeably decreased their use of the word from 2016-2021 whilst Volvo Cars and GroupePSA have gone in the opposite direction (Figure 4.2, 4.3).

Emission - was selected for further qualitative analysis since it is frequently mentioned across all firms (Figure 4.1, 4.2, 4.3) and should show how the trend of electrification is expressed in the different firms reports. Further, the over-time frequencies of the word show a high amount of variation where it is incrementally increasing for GroupePSA (Figure 4.2), decreasing for Volkswagen (Figure 4.1) and (with some nuance) overall increasing for Volvo Cars (Figure 4.3) as well.

Environmental - was selected for further qualitative analysis since it captures which environmental efforts each firm focuses on. Likewise, environmental is frequently mentioned across all firms and show interesting over-time patterns (Figure 4.1, 4.2, 4.3).

The following terms, while noteworthy, were ultimately excluded from the in-depth analysis, They presented some initial interest, particularly due to their frequency. However, upon closer examination, the relevance of these terms was either indirect, unclear, or overshadowed by the chosen four key terms. The decision to exclude these words was considered, taking into account their trends over time, patterns across companies, specific applications, and potential to provide insights. In some cases, the word's usage was either too broad or too niche to provide valuable results. While these words were not chosen for the detailed analysis, they offer supplementary context for understanding the non-financial reporting development in the automotive industry. Their individual motivations for exclusion are outlined below.

Considered Words:

Safety - was not selected for further analysis since it is a bit unclear how it relates to sustainability. Further, whilst being highly mentioned and showing interesting trends at Volvo Cars (Figure 4.3) and GroupePSA (Figure 4.2), it was not a very frequent word in Volkswagen's reporting (Figure 4.1).

Management - whilst being very highly mentioned (Figure 4.1, 4.2, 4.3), was not selected as it is not obvious based on the trends and mentions how it relates to sustainability. Further, whilst doing some initial analysis of the reports, it was found that management most often were mentioned in conjunction with risk (i.e. "risk management"), hence, some of the nuances found in management is expected to be identified by further analyzing the word "risk".

Sustainability - was strongly considered for further analysis. Naturally, the word could be interesting whilst analyzing sustainability reports. However, initial analysis of the reports showed that the word was mainly used in a broader sense and was rarely applied in specific scenarios, which would generate deeper analysis futile. Furthermore, whilst Volvo Cars (Figure 4.3) and Volkswagen (Figure 4.1) make frequent use of the words, Groupe PSA (Figure 4.2) barely mentions it.

Energy - was considered on a similar basis as "emission", i.e. that it could capture the electrification of the industry. However, whilst energy showed modestly more stand-out patterns, it had substantially lower frequencies of mentioning (Figure 4.1, 4.2, 4.3).

Supply - was considered as it captures the firms supply chains and as it showed strong patterns of incremental increase by all firms (Figure 4.1, 4.2, 4.3). However, the word is somewhat niche and would not be likely to capture more other trends than supply-chain trends.

Climate - was mainly considered due to its sudden spike in GroupePSA in 2019 (Figure 4.2) and Volvo Cars in 2021 (Figure 4.3). However, climate is arguably a subcategory of "environmental". Hence, the sudden rise in use of the word climate will likely be brought forward in the analysis of the word "environmental"

Human - was considered mainly to the purpose of capturing the social aspects of sustainability. However, the lack of general mentions in Volkswagen (Figure 4.1) and Volvo Cars (Figure 4.3) was the main factor for excluding the word. Further, the amount of mentions of the word "human" itself is to an extent enough analysis as its not easy to sub-categorize the word.

Water - similarly to "human", water was mainly excluded due to a general lack of mentions and a general skepticism towards what could be found from further analysis of the word since "water" can have very little meaning besides the sustainable use of water in a non-financial report.

Decarbonization - was considered since it had an over-time trend which stood out in Volkswagen (Figure 4.1). Further, the inclusion of the word could be a strong indicator of which sustainability strategy that is imposed. However, the word had no mentions in Volvo Cars (Figure 4.3) reporting.

Report selection

The key word frequency analysis (Figure 4.1, 4.2, 4.3) rendered the possibility to identify hot-spots in the decade long timeframe of the sample, where as described previously word frequencies indicative of a change or development was chosen. The same process went into deciding on which reporting years to choose in order to capture the indicated trend. Table 4.1 gives an overview of the two selected reports for each key word and company.

	\mathbf{R}^{i}	isk	Devel	opment	\mathbf{Emis}	ssion	Envir	onmental
Volkswagen AG	2014	2021	2016	2021	2016	2021	2014	2021
Groupe PSA	2014	2021	2012	2021	2012	2021	2016	2021
Volvo Cars	2014	2021	2013	2021	2011	2021	2013	2021

Table 4.1: Selected Reports After Key Word Frequency Analysis

With regards to the word risk, the 2014 and 2021 reports where chosen for all three firms since in general, though most prominent for Volkswagen and Volvo Cars, the frequency starts to increase substantially around 2014 and remains high relative to the starting point in the 2021 report. For the word development, the frequencies where less similar across the companies, where a sharp decline could be seen for Volkswagen when comparing the 2016 and the 2021 reports. In contrast, Volvo Cars and Groupe PSA shows the opposite trend with a increase in frequency mainly between 2012/2013 and 2021 respectively. Looking at the word emissions, there is no real similarities in terms of trend for the companies though Volkswagen has yet again shown a sharp decline from the 2016 report and on wards leading to the choice of 2016 and 2021. Volvo Cars has gone from low frequencies in the earlier years to high in latter where 2011 and 2021 makes out two extreme points. Groupe PSA showed a high frequency early on but increases rapidly to almost 600 in the 2021 report, thereby we settled on the 2012 and 2021 reports to examine the start and end of this development. With respect to the word environmental, both Volkswagen and Volvo Cars have high frequencies in the first half of the 10 year timeframe thus 2014, 2013 and 2021 where chosen respectively. Groupe PSA however has their peak in 2016 and subsequently reduces their frequency up until 2021.

4.1.2 Word Volume Analysis

The results of the word volume analysis is shown in Figure 4.4. The results shows that GroupePSA and Volvo Cars have significantly increased their reporting volume whilst Volk-swagen only has had a modest increase over the period. However, Volkswagen shows a trend that the volume is increasing with the outlier between the years 2016-2017 which will be discussed later in this paper. The word volume analysis does not in itself say anything more than what has been stated, but it will be used to complement the other results of this thesis to provide more context to the developments.



Figure 4.4: All Companies Word Volume by Year

4.2 CONI

In this section, the results for each key word will be presented. For each term, there is first a walk-through of the content diversity coding and the resulting content categories (Step 1). Thereafter we present the disclosure type per category (Step 2) in conjunction with the volumetric measurement for the content categories (Step 3). See 3.3.3 for process details.

4.2.1 Risk

When coding disclosures for content diversity based on the key word risk, the main 8 identified categories was; Risk Management, Social, Sustainability, Legal, Supply Chain, Transitional, Operational, and Environmental. Each of the mentioned categories was formed by grouping the subcategories (codes) used during the coding process.

Categories and su	b-categories	
Category	Sub-category (codes)	Definition
Risk Management	Management	Any disclosure related to how the given
	Risk Analysis	company manages and handles various
	Risk Mapping	risks.
	ERM (Enterprise Risk Management)	
Social	Health and safety	Any disclosure related to identified risks
	Human Rights	concerning social issues, such as health
	Employee satisfaction	and safety in the workplace, and employee satisfaction.
Sustainability	Sustainability	Any disclosure related to identified risks
· ·	CSR (Corporate social responsibility)	connected to sustainability practices and
		CSR initiatives.
Legal	Compliance	Any disclosure related to the risks sur-
	Legislation	rounding compliance with legislative and
	Regulation	regulatory requirements.
Supply Chain	Suppliers	Any disclosure related to the management
	Supply chain disruptions	of risk related to the supply chain, includ-
	Shipping, Logistics	ing suppliers, handling of disruptions, and
	Production facilities	logistics.
Transitional	Development, Trend	Any disclosure related to identified risks
	Technological, change	in relation to trends and technological
	Risk with a term limit	changes.
Operational	Product	Any disclosure related to the risks con-
	Production	nected to operations, including product
	Vehicle technology	development, production, vehicle technol-
	Innovation, R&D	ogy, and R&D.
Environmental	Environment	Any disclosure related to the risks con-
	Climate	nected to the company's environmental
	Nature, Ocean	practices and its impact on climate and
	Ecological, Biodiversity, Emissions	other ecological factors.
Annual Report	Information non-related to NFR	Any disclosure involving risks in that is
		strictly attributable to financial report-
		ing.

Table 4.2: Content Categorization, Risk

As detailed in Table 4.2 Risk Management represents any disclosure involving the term risk that relates to how the firm manages and handles various risks, that is, general strategies and processes. The Social category encompass risks in relation to health and safety in the workplace, employee satisfaction and human rights concerns. Where as, the Sustainability category relates to firm disclosures that specifically involves discussion of risks in relation to sustainability and overall CSR initiatives. Furthermore, there is the category of *Legal*, that refers to risks in relation to potential issues regarding firm compliance with the legislative and regulatory requirements imposed on company's in general and the automotive industry in particular. From a more internal perspective, the Supply Chain, Transitional and Operational categories refers to risks that signify certain challenges within a company. Supply Chain risks relates to elements associated with the whole supply chain, including individual suppliers and logistics. Transitional risks relate to developments that possess a term limit, essentially indicating their transient, or over-passing, nature. Finally, Operational risks disclose potential issues connected to the company's operations, which include aspects like product development, production, and research and development (R&D). Additionally there is the category of *Environmental*, which encompass risks related to potential problems that may arise form the firms activities from an environmental perspective, including its impact on climate and other ecological factors such as biodiversity and emissions. Lastly an inclusion of the category Annual Report was done to capture the disclosures surrounding risk that was clearly attributable to financial reporting and not specifically related to NFR. This category was mainly prevalent in the cases where the given firm produces an integrated report.



Qualitative & Quantitative Results

Volkswagen

Figure 4.5: Volkswagen Risk Type Average & Disclosure Volume

In regards to risk, Volkswagen have between 2014-2021 more than doubled the frequency of its discussions surrounding risk management. Further, Volkswagen has started to discuss risk more closely correlated with the areas social, sustainability and legal. All the same, the total amount of words in the report has decreased from approximately 70 000 in 2014 to 63 000 in 2021 (Figure 4.4).

In the relevant categories, there has been little change in the types of discussion which has been held, with the exception of legal where they in 2014 had a average type of 1 which increased to 2.5 in 2021, indicating that Volkswagen discloses more numbers and examples in regards to their legal risks.

All in all, Volkswagens increased focus on risk during the analyzed timespan, where it has been no regulatory changes, shows that Volkswagen clearly use their sustainability reportings for legitimacy purposes, where arguably risk management strategies are used as a mean to legitimize the firm towards investors to reduce the sustainability risks associated with investing in Volkswagen. Further, it could be argued that they engage in regulatory capture through legitimizing themselves towards regulators by showing responsibility.

Groupe PSA



Figure 4.6: Groupe PSA Risk Type Average & Disclosure Volume

Groupe PSA, who already in 2014 had several discussion regarding the risk related to sustainability, still showed a significant increase in these discussions. Especially in regards to the environmental risks and the effects sustainability related risks could have on their operations. However, the type of which Groupe PSA have these discussions have seen little change. But across the board, it has been a slight increase in the disclosure type.

In the same fashion as Volkswagen, GroupePSA has made notable changes in their reportings without facing any changes in what is mandated by them through regulations. Hence, legitimacy appears to drive change in GroupePSA as well. However, whilst there are similarities between Volkswagen and GroupPSA in that both primarily focus on risk management, GroupePSA put substantially higher emphasiz on risk over all and especially on their organizational risks in regards to sustainability. Therefore, it can be said that whilst both firms show positive developments in the use of the word risk and that it appears that legitimacy concerns is the main driver for it, they still differ as to the category of risk they are discussing. Volvo Cars



Figure 4.7: Volvo Cars Risk Type Average & Disclosure Volume

Volvo Cars is unique in this regards due to its move to integrated reporting in 2016. Hence, annual report related mentions of risk dominates. However, there are still some modest increases in their discussions surrounding risks in regards to sustainability where Volvo Cars have modestly started to discuss the risk in regards to sustainability, the environment and its effect on Volvo Cars operational capacity.

The type of which Volvo Cars discusses these subjects have seen little to no change between 2014-2021.

Hence, in contrast to Volkswagen and GroupePSA, Volvo Cars has not moved in the direction of notably increasing their discussions regarding sustainability related risk. This could be due to Volvo Cars move towards integrated reporting, however, they still could have incorporated sustainability related risks to a much higher extent then what they did and integrated reporting in itself should not necessarily effect this.

4.2.2 Development

When coding disclosures for content diversity based on the key word Development, the main 9 identified categories was; Technological, Operational, Human Capital, Regulatory, Ecological, Sustainable Development Goals, Electric, Local Communities, and Product. Each of the mentioned categories was formed by grouping the subcategories (codes) used during the coding process.

As outlined in Table 4.3, the *Technological* category encapsulates any disclosure related to the company's technological development, including research and development initiatives and software advancements. The *Operational* category pertains to the development of the company's operational activities and strategies, encompassing elements such as supply chain management, communication processes, and leasing operations. The *Human Capital* category includes the practices and policies relating to the development of the company's employees, covering aspects like talent acquisition, employee training, workplace health initiatives, and employee skills advancement. The *Regulatory* category involves disclosures relating to the

firm's engagement with the regulatory environment, covering areas like compliance efforts, future legislation, and lobbying activities. Under the *Ecological* category, disclosures concerning the company's development with regards to ecological impact and practices are included, touching upon issues related to water management, biodiversity, and interactions with plants and animals. The Sustainable Development Goals category involves the company's alignment with the United Nations' Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), indicating the company's commitment to these goals and their strategies to achieve them. The *Electric* category encompasses disclosures related to the development of electric technologies and initiatives, such as electrification strategies and battery technology advancements. The Local Communities category includes disclosures concerning the firm's impact on, and development of, local communities it has a connection to, potentially involving aspects of supply chain management and efficiency efforts within these communities. Finally, the *Product* category includes disclosures related to the development of the company's products, low-emission vehicles, and autonomous technologies, thereby covering strategies, initiatives, and updates in relation to these product developments. Through this coding process, a comprehensive understanding of the firm's diverse array of disclosure content.

Category	Sub-category (codes)	Definition
Technological	Research and Development	Any disclosure related to the technolog
	Software	cal development of the given company.
Operational	Management	Any disclosure related to developments i
	Supply chain	the company's operational activities an
	Communication	strategies.
	Leasing	
Human Capital	Talent Acquisition	Any disclosure related to development of
	Employee Training	practices and policies in relation to its en
	Workplace Health	ployees.
	Employee Skills	
Regulatory	Compliance	Any disclosure related to the development
	Future Legislation	of the regulatory environment, includin
	Lobbying	compliance, future legislation etc.
Ecological	Water	Any disclosure related to development
	Biodiversity	in relation to ecological impact and pra-
	Plants, Animals	tices.
Sustainable Development	United Nations SDGs	Any disclosure related to the company
Goals		alignment with the UN's Sustainable De
		velopment Goals.
Electric	Electrification	Any disclosure related to the development
	Battery	of electric technologies and initiatives.
Local Communities	Supply Chain Management	Any disclosure related to the development
	Supply Chain Efficiency	and impact of/on local communities.
Product	Product Development	Any disclosure related to the development
	Low-emission Vehicle	of company's products, low-emission ve
	Autonomous	hicles, and autonomous technology.

 Table 4.3:
 Content Categorization, Development

Qualitative & Quantitative Results

Volkswagen



Figure 4.8: Volkswagen Development Type Average & Disclosure Volume

In regards to Volkswagen's utilization of the term "development," there have been no significant changes in any specific areas, except for a general decrease in its mention. The most notable shift is the considerable decline in the use of "development" concerning ecological aspects, as well as a marked decrease in discussions about the Sustainable Development Goals. It is somewhat anticipated that the Sustainable Development Goals were highly discussed in 2016, given their introduction by the United Nations in 2015 (UN, n.d.). However, the reason for Volkswagen's reduced focus on these goals remains unclear.

The type average of Volkswagen's use of the word "development" has maintained relative stability between the two years analyzed, even though the total number of mentions was notably lower in 2016. This suggests that the reduction in the term's frequency is not an indication of a more focused and higher-quality conversation, but rather that there is genuinely less discussion about development at the same level of "quality."

Since no regulatory changes have appeared between 2016-2021 but major changes in Volkswagen's reportings can be observed in regards to development, regulations play no effect in the development and it is rather some way of legitimacy. However, as they decreased their usage of the word "development", which one would expect to be increased in a firm trying to legitimize themselves the "traditional" way, it is not entirely clear how they try to legitimize themselves. However, this is beyond the scope of this study.

Groupe PSA



Figure 4.9: Groupe PSA Development Type Average & Disclosure Volume

On average, the type average of GroupePSA saw a slight increase over the analyzed time period, even though the total amount of words also increased. The increase was especially noteworthy in the area if ecology where more concrete examples of their efforts were discussed, and in the area of regulatory concerns where GroupePSA put emphasis on being a part of the development of future regulations which would affect them.

Lastly, GroupePSA has had a significant focus on their discussions surrounding the development of Human Capital and local communities, which both saw notable increases in the analyzed time period. In regard to human capital, the discussion was mainly revolving around how the firm's employees should be trained in the realm of sustainability, and in regard to local communities, GroupePSA seemed to put a lot of emphasis on topics such as local sourcing to develop the communities of their suppliers.

In the case of GroupePSA, there have been regulatory changes in the analyzed time-period through the introduction of the NFRD. The categories which is affected by the NFRD is mainly "Local Communities" and "Ecological" which both had substantial and adequate in discussions in relation to what is mandated by the NFRD even before the regulations came into effect. Hence, GroupePSA's overall development in regards to the use of the word "development" can likely be attributed to legitimacy concerns.

Volvo Cars



Figure 4.10: Volvo Cars Development Type Average & Disclosure Volume

In contrast to Volkswagen and partly GroupePSA, Volvo Cars experienced a substantial surge in their overall utilization of the word "development." This increase primarily resulted from heightened discussions around technological and operational advancements, as well as a growth in conversations about electric vehicle development, which is not particularly surprising. In summary, the 2021 usage of the term "development" predominantly revolved around the development of novel technologies at Volvo Cars and the operational management strategies in their new sustainable business model, which aims to be entirely electric by 2030. However, another notable development is the significant decline in discussions regarding human capital development. Generally, one would anticipate an increase in this area over time, and even more so in Volvo Cars' case, given their adoption of integrated reporting, which not only encompasses human capital within the realm of sustainability.

The average type for Volvo Cars, much like for Volkswagen, has remained relatively stable even as the total word count has risen considerably, suggesting that the discourse on development has maintained consistent quality but on a larger scale.

As previously discussed in the section about GroupePSA, the NFRD should mainly effect the categories "Human Capital" and "Ecological". Further, similarly to GroupePSA, the NFRD came into effect during the analyzed time-period. However, the NFRD appears to have had little to no effect of Volvo Cars reportings as there is very little effect on the disclosure type and especially in the case of Human Capital, Volvo Cars even substantially decreased their discussions.

4.2.3 Emission

When coding disclosures for content diversity based on the key word Emission, the main 10 identified categories was; Production, Supply Chain, Product, Regulatory, Pollutants, Objectives, Operational, Sector, Management, and Reduction. Each of the mentioned categories was formed by grouping the subcategories (codes) used during the coding process.

Category	Sub-category (codes)	Definition				
Production	Manufacturing	Any disclosure related to emissions at				
	Remanufacturing, Production	tributable to production activities an				
	EV-production, Materials	strategies.				
Supply Chain	Supplier(s)	Any disclosure related to the company				
	Supply chain emissions	supply chain connected emissions.				
Product	EV	Any disclosure related to the role in emis				
	ZEV	sions reduction the company's product				
	Synthetic diesel fuels	including electric vehicles, zero-emissio				
	Driving emissions	vehicles, synthetic diesel fuels, drivin				
	Electrification	emissions, and electrification can play.				
Regulatory	Emissions trading system (ETS)	Any disclosure related to emissions wit				
	Emission standards	regards to the regulatory environmen				
	Compliance, Regulation	including emissions trading, caps, cree				
	Credits, Pools, Taxes	its, pools, and emission-based taxes an				
	Product liability compliance	rights.				
Pollutants	NOx, SOx, SO2, CO2	Any disclosure related to emissions as i				
	VOC, Hydrofluorocarbons	the specific pollutants produced by the				
01.1	Particulate	company.				
Objectives	UN 2030 SDGs	Any disclosure related to emissions an				
	Problematization	their relation to firm objectives, include				
	Industry challenges	ing alignment with the UN 2030 SDGs				
0	Targets	problematization and targets.				
Operational	Carbon pricing	Any disclosure related to emissions at				
	Operational, Operations	tributable to operational activities an				
g	Dieseigate	strategies.				
Sector	Venicle, Market trends	Any disclosure of emissions related to the				
	Crean steel	sector or industry as a whole, includin				
Manamant	Ctalabaldan importance	A rest disclosure related to the manage				
Management	Stakenolder importance	Any disclosure related to the manage				
	Communication	ment practices, including stakeholder im				
	Communication	cation with regards to emissions				
Reduction	Decarbonization	Any disclosure related to the firm's effort				
	Reduction, reduce	to reduce its emissions, including deca				
	Impact	bonization.				
	Environmental action					

Table 4.4: Content Categorization, Emission

As illustrated in Table 4.4, the *Production* category involves any disclosure concerning emissions tied to production activities and strategies, encapsulating elements like manufacturing, remanufacturing, EV-production, and the materials used. The *Supply Chain* category relates to disclosures of the emissions connected to the company's supply chain. The *Product* category includes any disclosure referring to the role the company's products, such as electric vehicles (EV), zero-emission vehicles (ZEV), and synthetic diesel fuels, can play in reducing emissions. The *Regulatory* category pertains to disclosures associated with emissions in relation to the regulatory environment, including elements like the Emissions Trading System (ETS), emission standards, and compliance regulations. The *Pollutants* category captures

disclosures related to specific pollutants produced by the company, such as NOx, VOC and Hydrofluorocarbons, and particulate matter. The *Objectives* category involves any disclosure related to emissions in relation to the company's objectives, including alignment with the UN 2030 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and set emission reduction targets. The *Op*-*erational* category includes any disclosure linked to emissions attributable to the company's operational activities and strategies, such as carbon pricing efforts. The *Sector* category refers to any disclosure of emissions connected to the broader sector or industry, including automotive market trends and industry shifts. The *Management* category encapsulates any disclosure related to management practices concerning emissions, including stakeholder importance, internal policies, and communication strategies. Finally, the *Reduction* category incorporates disclosures related to the firm's specific efforts to reduce its emissions, highlighting strategies such as decarbonization.



Qualitative & Quantitative Results

Volkswagen

Figure 4.11: Volkswagen Emission Type Average & Disclosure Volume

With respect to the word emission, Volkswagen has between 2016-2021 reduced their frequency of discussing emissions in relation to their products by approximately half. The same trend can also be observed in the area of emissions from a more general operational perspective. Discussions and disclosures on specific pollutants is drastically lower frequency wise in the 2021 report. The only subject area where the firm has increased their reporting frequency is the that of objectives, i.e discussions related to emissions targets, standing by the Paris Agreement etc. (Table 4.4).

Looking at the type of disclosures, the differences are of less magnitude in general however the discussions of emissions from a sector perspective gone from an average type of 2,5 to 1 i.e the company has become less specific and numerically bound in their disclosures in this area and leaning more towards the more purely narrative side. The opposite can be said regarding objectives and specific pollutants, here the firm uses numerical data to a greater extent in their 2021 report compared to in 2016. The decreasing development in regard to Volkswagen's emissions could be argued that it is attributed to legitimacy. In theory, it is common for firms to distance themselves in relation to their scandal as a legitimization strategy. Hence, "Volkswagen emissions scandal" (2023) could likely bee the explanation for this. However, the development could also be a natural effect of Volkswagen's increasing focus on electric vehicles which simply but emit less emissions and therefore lessens the need for discussions regarding the subject.

Groupe PSA



Figure 4.12: Groupe PSA Emission Type Average & Disclosure Volume

GroupePSA shows a general pattern between the years 2012 and 2021 where the disclosure frequency has increased in almost all categories. The most notable being the areas of Production, Supply Chain, Regulatory, Pollutants and Objectives. The largest difference is the disclosure frequency involving emissions related to the supply chain and also reporting of specific pollutants. This shall though be seen in the context that the total volume of words has increased by approximately 60000 words. That is, the company report substantially more information overall in their 2021 report.

The disclosure type differences are less extreme however notable in some areas. The group has increased their average type, leaning more towards numerical, quantitative information within the area of Pollutants and Objectives. The opposite can be said of the areas Sector and management, where the company has shifted to a more narrative disclosure style.

Compared to Volkswagen, GroupePSA have moved in the entirely different direction in regards to their use of the word emission. This could potentially strengthen the argument that "Volkswagen emissions scandal" (2023) was a main driving in Volkswagen reducing their mentioning of the word since GroupePSA also moves towards electric vehicles but this strategy, as shown, does not reduce their discussions surrounding the emission subject. Volvo Cars



Figure 4.13: Volvo Cars Emission Type Average & Disclosure Volume

Volvo Cars is as noted earlier of particular interest since having moved from dedicated nonfinancial reporting to integrated reporting between the two observed years (2011, 2021). In terms of disclosure frequency we can see a substantial increase in the categories; Objectives, Supply Chain, Operational, Production. However emissions related to the company's own product has a lower rate of occurrence in the 2021 report. That is, the overall trend in disclosure frequency is that the firm talks more about the emissions attributable to their operations and the production of cars rather then the emissions of cars after point of sale. Perhaps most notable of the sharp increasing categories, is that of objectives, in 2011 when following a more stringent GRI-reporting style the narrative around objectives (goals and targets) amounted to just a fifth of the 2021 frequency. This is most likely in part to due to the overall substantial increase in word volume between the 2011 and the 2021 report (Figure 4.4).

Though having gone through a great transformation with regards to disclosure volume and content category, when observing disclosure type there has not been that drastic of a development. However notable categories are that of Production and Pollutants, where the company is far more narrative and less specific in the 2021 report compared to 2011. On the contrary, looking at the area of Reduction (general strategies and disclosures of emissions reduction (Table 4.4)) a clear increase in the information level of disclosure, where Volvo Cars present a high degree of numerical, comparable data with narrative explanations in the latter report.

Compared to GroupePSA and Volkswagen, Volvo Cars overall increased their use of the word similarily to GroupePSA. However, the specific category in which this increase is observed differ. Hence, comparing the firms it is hard to draw any other conclusion then that they follow different strategies in regards to their emissions reporting.

4.2.4 Environmental

When coding disclosures for content diversity based on the key word Environmental, the main 11 identified categories was; Management, Climate, Regulatory, Supply Chain, Circular, Business Benefits, Communication, Ecological, Technological, Chemical, and Resources. Each of the mentioned categories was formed by grouping the subcategories (codes) used during the coding process.

Category	Sub-category (codes)	Definition				
Management	Leadership	Any disclosure related to the company				
	Stakholder importance	internal environmental management pol				
	Internal Policy	cies and actions.				
Climate	Decarbonization	Any disclosure related to climate actions				
	CO2	including efforts to decarbonize and mar				
	Greenhouse gases, Leasing	age environmental impact.				
Regulatory	Regulations	Any disclosure related to compliance wit				
	Lobbying	environmental regulations and legislation				
Supply Chain	Supplier	Any disclosure related to the environmer				
	Transports	tal impact of the supply chain.				
Circular	Recycling	Any disclosure related to circular ecor				
	Remanufacturing	omy practices, such as recycling, remanu				
	Waste management	facturing, and waste management.				
Business Benefits	Product improvement	Any disclosure related to the busines				
	Financial benefits	benefits derived from environmental in				
	Competitive benefits	tiatives.				
Communication	Marketing	Any disclosure related to communicatio				
	Impact of marketing material	of environmental initiatives.				
Ecological	Water	Any disclosure related to the impact				
	Biodiversity	on ecology, including water, biodiversity				
	Plants	plants, and animals.				
	Annials					
Technological	Product Development	Any disclosure related to technologica				
	Innovation	developments in the area of environmen				
		tal sustainability.				
Chemical	Refrigerants	Any disclosure related to the management				
	NOX	of chemical substances, including refriger				
	Other chemicals	ants, NOX, and other chemicals.				
Resources	Raw materials	Any disclosure related to the use of ray				
		materials.				

 Table 4.5:
 Content Categorization, Environmental

As defined in Table 4.5, *Management* disclosures revolve around the company's internal environmental management policies and actions, including leadership, analysis of stakeholder importance, and general policy. *Climate* related disclosures cover climate actions, such as efforts to decarbonize and manage environmental impact. The *Regulatory* category represents any disclosure involving compliance with environmental regulations and legislation. The *Supply Chain* category addresses disclosures related to the environmental impact of the supply chain, while the *Circular* category encompasses disclosures related to circular economy

practices, like recycling, remanufacturing, and waste management. In the *Business Benefits* category, the focus lies on disclosures related to the business benefits that can be derived from environmental initiatives. The *Communication* category comprises disclosures relating to communication of various environmental initiatives and practices. The *Ecological* category includes disclosures related to the impact on ecology, such as water, biodiversity, plants, and animals. Furthermore, disclosures related to technological developments in environmental sustainability fall under the *Technological* category. The *Chemical* category includes any disclosure related to the management of chemical substances. Lastly, the *Resources* category includes environmental related disclosures attributable to the use of raw materials.

Qualitative & Quantitative Results

Volkswagen



Figure 4.14: Volkswagen Environmental Type Average & Disclosure Volume

For Volkswagen, the discussions revolving the word "environmental" was mostly referring to general management of environmental questions, i.e. the organizational structure, policies, steering documents etc. Besides that, the word environment was across the board less used in 2021 compared to 2014 with the notable exception of it being used in regulatory discussions where it is mainly being discussed in the context of how Volkswagen can adapt to and affect future environmental legislation.

The type average in regard to the word "environment" was on average very low given that the category "management" is both very low type and very frequent.

Again, the decrease in mejtionings is likely not explained by regulations as the NFRD mandates that environmental disclosures should be made and not the other way around. Hence, Volkswagen disclosed more than enough even before the regulations came into effect and the development have more likely been driven by legitimacy concerns. However, it should be noted that the increased in the "Regulatory" category means that Volkswagen are concerned with the regulations that will be imposed on them in the form of the CSRD, however, it is not clear if this is because it will effect their reporting or if it is due to regulatory capture.

GroupePSA



Figure 4.15: Groupe PSA Environmental Type Average & Disclosure Volume

In the same fashion as for Volkswagen, the dominant category for GroupePSA in regards to the word "environmental" is management. However, what stands out in the case of GroupPSA is that supply chain is fairly common as well. This is in line with the other discussed words where GroupePSA has showed a strong focus on their supply chain and there suppliers in all cases. The main difference between 2016 and 2021 in the case of GroupePSA is that they have shifted some focus from general management to more "niche" categories such as climate, circular, and communication. In their 2021 reportings, communication stood out since they in dept discussed the environmental impact of their communications (i.e. the environmetal impact of their social media channels, file sizes in emails etc.). Further, the discussion about environmetal regulations also increased between 2016 and 2021, which is the same as in the case of Volkswagen and Volvo Cars.

Regarding the type average, GroupePSA's reporting had generally higher disclosures types than in 2021 than in 2016. Combining this with the fact that there total usage of the word environmental decreased, it is indicative that disclosures are somewhat more condensed in 2021 than in previous years.

Overlooking some differences regarding which categories is discussed, GroupePSA's development in regard to the word environmental do not differ substantially from the development seen in Volkswagen. Hence, similar arguments can be made in regards to GroupePSA that regulations have played little effect and that the development is most likely driven by legitimacy concerns. Volvo Cars



Figure 4.16: Volvo Cars Environmental Type Average & Disclosure Volume

The case of Volvo Cars is very similar to Volkswagens and GroupePSA's, at least if one ignores 2021. The by far most frequent category "environmental" was mentioned in for Volvo Cars in 2013 was also management, and beyond some mentioning in the context of the supply chain, management clearly stood out. However, in 2021 which is a example of integrated reporting, a lot changed for Volvo Cars. Whilst all categories dropped, management dropped the most by far, and on the same time, the type average increased by almost 1. Further, in regards to the type average, the same goes for most other categories where it has benn significant increases since Volvo Cars switch to integrated reporting. This indicates that whilst Volvo Cars reporting volume has decreased, the "quality" of those disclosures have actually increased. It should also be noted that similar to Volkswagen, the regulatory category stood out for Volvo Cars as the only category which increased over the time period.

4.3 How has sustainability reporting developed in the European automotive industry over the last decade?

In our research, we find that there has been a clear lack of cohesion in how the three different analyzed firms sustainability reporting has developed over the last decade. The most obvious example of that is Volvo Cars move towards integrated reporting, which drastically affected the types of sustainability keywords which was present in the report. However, even with the move towards integrated reporting, the overall disclosures volume still increased, which is on average true for all firms (with the exception of Volkswagen between 2016 and 2017). Hence, One of the key findings from our analysis is that the reporting frequency has increased over the past decade. This could be attributed to a growing awareness of the importance of sustainability and environmental responsibility within the automotive industry, as well as the rising expectations from stakeholders such as investors, regulators, and consumers which will be discussed in more detail in the next section.

Furthermore, we observed that the type of disclosure has also evolved, with a slightly increased focus on quantitative data and specific targets (i.e, a higher type of disclosure). This indicates a shift towards a more transparent and accountable approach to sustainability reporting. However, the development is slight, and whilst it stands out in some areas it lacks behind in others and there is no real cohesion as to where it stands out between the different firms.

In regard to the overall lack of cohesion, it can be exemplified by the varying disclosure frequencies and types across the three companies. For example, the keyword "Risk" sees a noticeable increase in disclosure frequency for Volkswagen from 2014 to 2021, with the most significant increase in the Risk Management category. In contrast, Volvo's disclosure frequency for the same category remains relatively stable in the same period, while Groupe PSA experiences a modest increase. This divergence in disclosure frequency suggests that the companies have differing priorities and approaches to sustainability reporting, which in turn affects the consistency and comparability of their reports.

Similarly, the analysis of the keyword "Development" also reveals substantial differences in disclosure frequencies across the companies. For instance, Volkswagen experiences a decrease in disclosure frequency for Technological and Operational categories between 2016 and 2021, whereas Volvo sees an increase in the same categories from 2013 to 2021. Meanwhile, Groupe PSA's disclosure frequency increases for Human Capital and Local Communities categories between 2012 and 2021. This suggests that the companies have different focal points in their sustainability reporting, further contributing to the lack of cohesion in the industry.

Moreover, the disclosure type average for various keywords, such as "Environmental" and "Emission," also shows significant disparities among the three companies. For example, the Volkswagen's disclosure type average for the Climate category decreases from 2.33 in 2014 to 1.70 in 2021, while Volvo's disclosure type average increases from 1.82 in 2013 to 3.00 in 2021 for the same category. This indicates that the companies are not only focusing on different aspects of sustainability but are also disclosing information in different ways, making it challenging to draw direct comparisons.

In conclusion, the answer to the question "How has sustainability reporting developed in the European automotive industry over the last decade?" is that it has been characterized by a lack of cohesion, as evidenced by the disparities in disclosure frequencies and types among the three analyzed companies. While there has been an overall increase in reporting frequency and a slightly greater focus on quantitative data and specific targets, the inconsistencies across companies hinder the comparability and effectiveness of sustainability reporting in the industry. This highlights the need for increased collaboration and standardization to ensure that sustainability reporting becomes a more cohesive and transparent tool for addressing environmental and social issues in the automotive industry.

4.4 What has been the main drivers for change regarding sustainability reporting?

4.4.1 Regulations

The first and most obvious driver for change that naturally comes to mind is regulations. The regulations by which the subjects of this study are affected, as discussed in the literature review, include the NFRD which came into effect in 2014 and the CSRD which will come into effect in 2023 (EuropeanComission, 2023). The NFRD, which is the only law that has been enforced under the analyzed time frame, requires companies, according to the Swedish governmental agency Finansinspektionen, to:

"The report should contain sustainability-related disclosures that are required to understand a firm's earnings, position, development, and the impact on its operations. The Directive specifies environmental protection, social responsibility and the treatment of employees, respect for human rights and the prevention of corruption and bribery." (Finansinspektionen, 2022).

Beyond potential interpretation of the mandate, all firms have gone above and beyond the phrasing "disclosures that are required to understand a firm's earnings, position, development, and the impact on its operation" and disclose both in terms of frequency and scope substantially more than what is mandated, which is in line with the conclusions of Stolowy and Paugam (2018) about information overload. Hence, it is not plausible that the NFRD has affected the change in sustainability reporting that our research has observed. Furthermore, the CSRD, which potentially could have had an effect on the later years in the analyzed time span as firms prepare for future legislations, has not significantly widened the scope of the NFRD and will not include anything that the firms are not already doing, with the exception of mandatory external auditing.

4.4.2 Legitimacy

Based on our results, it is possible to argue that legitimacy has been a driver of change in the sustainability reporting of automotive companies. The substantial increase in word count of "risk" and its focus on various risk management strategies is for example indicative of this by these companies addressing stakeholder concerns in order to maintain their legitimacy in regards to sustainability Further, in regards to retaining legitimacy after scandals, the case of Volkswagen's "Dieselgate" scandal provides evidence of how legitimacy concerns can drive changes in NFRs ("Volkswagen emissions scandal", 2023). Although we do not have access to the 2015 report, the change in word counts from 80,000 in the 2016 report to 50,000 in the 2017 report could be seen as an attempt by Volkswagen to regain legitimacy by altering their NFR strategy in response to the scandal. As suggested by Bellucci et al. (2021), this substantial reduction in word count might reflect Volkswagen's efforts to focus on transparency and taking responsibility for the scandal by making structural changes and emphasizing the scandal rather than trying to avoid it.

Furthermore, the overall increase in word counts observed in our dataset may be driven by the need for automotive companies to demonstrate their commitment to sustainability and gain legitimacy in the eyes of their stakeholders. As sustainability has become a more prominent concern among consumers and investors, it is likely that companies have adapted their NFRs to meet these expectations and maintain a positive image.

In the context of the information overload observed in sustainability reports, one possible explanation for the additional information could be marketing-related content (Singleton-Green & Hodgkinson, 2013). As indicated in the literature, NFRs tend to focus more on shareholders than stakeholders (Lindgren et al., 2021), making them a suitable audience for marketing efforts.

Our research findings reveal significant changes in the word counts across various categories related to the marketing purpose for engaging in NFR. For instance, the word count for "Risk Management" increased from 47 to 114 for Volkswagen, and from 25 to 29 for Volvo. Similarly, the word count for "Environmental" increased from 23 to 101 for Groupe PSA. These increases suggest that the companies under study are utilizing the flexibility of sustainability reporting to convey a positive image of their sustainability efforts and achievements.

Furthermore, our results indicate a notable focus on the "Development" category, with prominent subcategories such as "Technological," "Operational," and "Human Capital." While not always directly related to sustainability, these topics may be emphasized for marketing purposes. For example, showcasing advancements in technology or emphasizing the importance of human capital can create a positive image of the company, which can differentiate it from competitors and potentially appeal to environmentally conscious consumers.

Hence, it is likely that the firms utilize the flexibility of the current regulations to use the space of sustainability reporting to market themselves towards the different readers of the reports and hence gain legitimacy.

Discussion

The central theme emerging from our research indicates that the development of sustainability reporting in the European automotive industry over the last decade has been characterized by significant disparities in both the frequency and type of disclosures. Despite a general trend towards increased reporting frequency and a slightly heightened focus on quantitative data and specific targets, the inconsistencies among companies undermine the comparability and effectiveness of sustainability reporting within the industry. This invokes a discussion on the forces driving these changes and the implications for further regulations and standardization within the sector.

5.1 Legitimacy as a Driving Force

The empirical evidence from our study strongly suggests legitimacy as a primary driver for developments in sustainability reporting. The findings are well aligned with the theories presented by Deegan (2002), who argue that organizations regularly seek to establish or retain legitimacy through exhaustive Non-Financial Reports (NFRs), which coupled with what Pohl (2021) stated, is especially relevant in the automotive industry as the industry is under scrutiny from stakeholders due to the industries high impact in the are of sustainability. Hence, by creating these disclosures, companies demonstrate their commitment to the stakeholders' values and expectations, thereby fostering their legitimacy.

A clear manifestation of the legitimacy-driven transformation in NFR practices can be observed in the aftermath of high-profile scandals. Volkswagen's "Dieselgate" scandal serves as an notable example. Volkswagen significantly decreased its report length following the scandal, suggesting that their sustainability report is something which is considered influential by Volkswagen in affecting their stakeholders. This resonates with the findings of Corazza et al. (2020), who suggested that a firms do commonly use their sustainability reports to "distract" the reader away from a scandal through a shift in focus or a "hiding in plain sight" strategy.

However, it is not merely during periods of turbulence that the drive for legitimacy influences reporting practices. Our study reveals a continuous increase in reporting frequency and a consistent focus on specific keywords, demonstrating the ongoing desire of companies to uphold their image and legitimacy among stakeholders. This trend aligns with the theories presented by S. Gray (1988), suggesting that firms utilize NFRs as a means to manage their social and environmental impacts, while simultaneously enhancing their image with stakeholders. As sustainability gather more attention from investors and consumers, companies are re-calibrating their reporting practices to mirror these expectations and safeguard their credibility.

Similarly, the modern trend of information overload observed in sustainability reports, as suggested by Stolowy and Paugam (2018), could be attributed to the drive for legitimacy. In an attempt to secure their legitimacy, companies may strategically incorporate marketing-related content into their reports. Given the latitude provided by current regulations, companies may exploit sustainability reporting as a platform for promoting their commitment to sustainability, thus projecting a favorable image. This hypothesis is supported by Gallego-Álvarez et al.

(2010), who advocate that non-financial information is an efficient domain for firms to market their products or services.

To sum up, the legitimacy-based motivations fundamentally influence the evolution of nonfinancial reporting practices. The increasing focus on sustainability among stakeholders and the public, combined with the strategic use of NFRs for marketing purposes, implies that legitimacy continues to act as a driving force behind the dynamics of non-financial reporting. This underscores the need for more research and regulation in the domain, ensuring that NFRs cater to their intended purpose and present the information genuinely relevant to stakeholders.

5.2 The Role of Regulations

While regulations, such as the NFRD and the forthcoming CSRD, are often considered as potential drivers for standardizing disclosure requirements, their impact on the sustainability reporting practices of the observed companies appears to be limited. Our findings resonate with Stolowy et al. (2018), who suggested that firms often exceed what is mandated, leading to an information overload.

The NFRD, which was implemented during the studied period, requires companies to disclose sustainability-related information necessary to comprehend a firm's financial position, earnings, development, and operational impacts. However, all of the analyzed firms have substantially exceeded these requirements in both the frequency and scope of their disclosures. This suggests that the NFRD has not been the key driver for the observed changes in their sustainability reporting.

The forthcoming CSRD, while potentially influencing firms' preparations for future legislations, does not seem to substantially widen the scope of the NFRD. The primary change introduced by the CSRD is a mandatory external auditing requirement, which is unlikely to significantly impact the existing reporting practices of the firms. It could be further speculated, in line with Bó (2006), the persuit for legitimacy which has been observed is in part a method for regulatory capture where firms have attempted to show that they do not need to be regulated.

However, it should also be noted that whilst regulations do not appear to effect the bulk nor the direction of the reporting, it could be a source for the need for firms to legitimize themselves. For example, it is hard to say if firms would have seen the same need to gain legitimacy in the field of sustainability if regulators did not enforce regulations to underline the importance of sustainability. Furthermore, in the midst of the phenomena of information overload, the regulations can still have effect in the form of technical details such as emission details which could have a big impact for stakeholders to be aware of but which do not take up much space in the reports.

All in all, the findings of Singleton-Green and Hodgkinson (2013) that the observed information overload in NFR is contradictory in the sense that a common complain is lack of relevant information in NFR, is in line with the findings of this study. Further, Singleton-Green and Hodgkinson (2013) conclusion that the current regulatory landscape is lackluster is also observed through the low effect regulatory changes has on the sustainability reports.

5.3 Implications and Future Research

The methodology used in this thesis, where the CONI-model was extended with a NLPanalysis to widen the initial scope of the method, has to the best of our knowledge never been done before. Hence, arguably a methodological contribution has been made which could be utilized by future researchers. Our methodology, and potential modifications of it, is best applied to research scenarios where it is required that both a big sample is applied but also a more thorough qualitative analysis, something that is often hard to combine. The type of data the methodology can be applied to extends beyond various firm reports and it could with little modification be applied to large sets of news articles, websites, or any other textual medium where the format and content are similar in between the samples.

Furthermore, the code developed in this thesis could be used for inspiration and/or direct use in similar research projects (Rafstedt & Lidvall, 2023). However, it should be noted that the code has not been developed with this in mind and that the repository is poorly documented and contains several blocks of unused and/or experimental code. Additionally, the ESG-keyword list as developed in this thesis could be put directly to use or used as a source of inspiration in research cases where a ESG related word list is of value.

In regard to the results of this thesis, it seems that further regulations may not substantially affect how firms report on sustainability, as they already disclose considerably more than what is mandated. While further regulations may introduce minor technical changes, they are unlikely to address the observed information overload. Therefore, future regulations might need to focus more on encouraging standardization and comparability in reporting, rather than simply increasing disclosure requirements.

Information overload has been shown in this study to be one of the major issues in the current state of NFR in the european automotive industry. It does not only damage the comparability between the different firms but it also draws attention from the most important disclosures. Hence, future research will need to study how information overload can be counteracted. For example, could regulations limit how much that is allowed to be disclosed in a sustainability report, such as only requiring firms to disclose their top twenty most impactful efforts in the different areas environmental protection, social responsibility, human rights, and corruption and bribery along with their quantitative disclosures?

The study also highlights the need for further research into the role of legitimacy as a driver for sustainability reporting. Understanding how firms use reporting as a tool for gaining legitimacy could provide insights for developing strategies and policies that encourage more effective and comparable sustainability reporting. Future studies could also examine the influence of marketing on reporting practices and its potential implications for the quality and comparability of sustainability reports.

However, legitimacy as a driver for change instead of regulations is not inherently bad. Legitimacy in relation to sustainability reports is often discussed in conjunction with greenwashing, such as by Seele and Gatti (2017). Whilst an un-sustainabile firm, in line with Seele and Gatti (2017), for sure can use their sustainability reporting to attempt to legitimize themselves as sustainable firms, truly sustainable firms will also use their sustainability reporting to legitimize themselves since if you do not tell anybody that you are sustainable in your practices, people will most likely don't think that you are. Further, in line with the findings of Herbohn et al. (2014), Lodhia et al. (2022), and Bacha and Ajina (2019), firms that show strong sustainability performance tend to disclose more extensively in their sustainability reports. Hence, since the analyzed firms to various degrees shows increase in their reporting volumes, it may very well be that the legitimizing strategies the firms impose is a legitimate endeavor. However, even if the purpose of the firms reporting is not greenwashing, the observed development where legitimacy concerns is in the drivers seat still makes comparability difficult to achieve because of information overload. Hence, whilst the intent and purposes of the firms of using the sustainability reports to legitimize themselves may be good, regulations are still needed to reduce information overload and standardize the reporting.

Additionally, a subject meriting future research that has not been addressed in this thesis involves the influence of fashion on sustainability reporting within the automotive industry. That is, automotive firms frequently collaborate with the same auditors, consultants, etc. Given the notable degree of convergence already present in the automotive industry, one might anticipate a significant level of uniformity in their sustainability reports. However, this thesis has found the opposite to be true, suggesting an intriguing area for further investigation.

In conclusion, our findings underscore the necessity for regulators to guide the NFR field into a state of increased standardization and understandability. Currently, the field is riddled with information overload and different methods of presentation which makes relevant information both hard to find and close to impossible to compare between firms. Going forward, our research show that regulators will need to be more creative and/or mandating in how NFR should be performed to make the regulations achieve its desired goals.

Conclusion

The research conducted in this study has provided a detailed examination of the development of sustainability reporting in the European automotive industry over the past decade in accordance with the stated purpose where a spotlight was shined on the effects of regulations and legitimacy. The findings have uncovered considerable disparities in both the frequency and type of sustainability disclosures among companies, thereby raising concerns about the comparability and overall usefulness of these reports.

The first question we set out to answer, *How has sustainability reporting developed in the European automotive industry over the last decade?*, can be concluded with that over the past decade, sustainability reporting in the European automotive industry, as evidenced by three analyzed firms, has seen increased frequency and a modest shift towards quantitative data and specific targets. However, a distinct lack of cohesion across the companies hinders comparability and effectiveness. Volvo Cars' shift to integrated reporting led to changes in disclosure content, yet volume of disclosures increased across all firms. Companies' different focuses can be seen in the varied disclosure frequencies for keywords like "Risk" and "Development", and the type of disclosure for "Environmental" and "Emission".

The second question we set out to answer, *What has been the main drivers for change regarding sustainability reporting?*, can be concluded with legitimacy, driven by stakeholder demands and marketing, being the major driving force in regards to the development. Whilst regulations have a minor effect on technical details, it appears that firms disclose substantially more than what is mandated which leads to information overload.

Considering these findings, several crucial implications arise. The results suggest that simply implementing more regulations might not significantly alter the way firms approach sustainability reporting, as companies already disclose considerably beyond what is mandated. The real challenge lies not in increasing the disclosure requirements but in addressing the existing information overload and promoting standardization in reporting practices.

To address these issues, future research should explore strategies to mitigate information overload. One such approach could be the introduction of regulations that limit the volume of disclosures in sustainability reports, thereby emphasizing the most impactful sustainability efforts and quantitative disclosures.

Furthermore, the role of legitimacy as a driver for sustainability reporting merits deeper exploration. Unraveling how companies manipulate sustainability reporting as a tool for legitimacy can provide valuable insights that can be used to devise policies promoting more effective and comparable sustainability reporting. This also highlights the importance of scrutinizing the influence of marketing on sustainability reporting, given its potential to compromise the quality and comparability of reports.

This study has also made a methodological contribution in which it has been shown how the CONI-model can be expanded to include the use of NLP to be filter larger datasets for later qualitative studies.

In conclusion, this study has underscored the urgent need for increased standardization and collaboration within the European automotive industry to improve the efficacy of sustainability reporting. It is hoped that the insights gained from this study will prompt further exploration into this critical area and inform policy-making efforts to enhance the transparency, comparability, and overall impact of sustainability reporting in the automotive industry. This research, therefore, serves as a stepping stone towards a more sustainable and accountable automotive sector in Europe.

References

- Abram, M. D., Mancini, K. T., & Parker, R. D. (2020). Methods to integrate natural language processing into qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 19, 160940692098460. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406920984608
- Aichner, T., Coletti, P., Jacob, F., & Wilken, R. (2021). Did the volkswagen emissions scandal harm the "made in germany" image? a cross-cultural, cross-products, cross-time study. *Corporate Reputation Review*, 24(4), 179–190. https://doi.org/10.1057/s41299-020-00101-5
- Aluchna, M., Roszkowska-Menkes, M., & Kamiński, B. (2022). From talk to action: The effects of the non-financial reporting directive on ESG performance. *Meditari Accountancy Research*, 31(7), 1–25. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEDAR-12-2021-1530
- Bacha, S., & Ajina, A. (2019). CSR performance and annual report readability: Evidence from france. Corporate Governance: The International Journal of Business in Society, 20(2), 201–215. https://doi.org/10.1108/CG-02-2019-0060
- Beck, A. C., Campbell, D., & Shrives, P. J. (2010). Content analysis in environmental reporting research: Enrichment and rehearsal of the method in a british–german context. *The British accounting review*, 42(3), 207–222.
- Bekker, H. (2023, January 18). 2022 (full year) europe: Best-selling car manufacturers and brands [Car sales statistics]. Retrieved March 1, 2023, from https://www.best-sellingcars.com/europe/2022-full-year-europe-best-selling-car-manufacturers-and-brands/
- Bellucci, M., Acuti, D., Simoni, L., & Manetti, G. (2021). Hypocrisy and legitimacy in the aftermath of a scandal: An experimental study of stakeholder perceptions of nonfinancial disclosure. Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 34(9), 182–194. https://doi.org/10.1108/AAAJ-01-2021-5113
- Beretta, V., Demartini, M. C., Lico, L., & Trucco, S. (2021). A tone analysis of the nonfinancial disclosure in the automotive industry. *Sustainability*, 13(4). https://doi.org/ 10.3390/su13042132
- Bó, E. D. (2006). Regulatory capture: A review. Oxford Review of Economic Policy, 22(2), 203–225. Retrieved March 1, 2023, from https://www.jstor.org/stable/23606888
- Boiral, O., Brotherton, M.-C., Yuriev, A., & Talbot, D. (2022). Through the smokescreen of the dieselgate disclosure: Neutralizing the impacts of a major sustainability scandal. Organization & Environment, 35(2), 175–201. https://doi.org/10.1177/10860266211043561
- Breijer, R., & Orij, R. P. (2022). The comparability of non-financial information: An exploration of the impact of the non-financial reporting directive (NFRD, 2014/95/EU). Accounting in Europe, 19(2), 332–361. https://doi.org/10.1080/17449480.2022.2065645
- Capgemini. (2022). SUSTAINABILITY IN AUTOMOTIVE: FROM AMBITION TO AC-TION. Capgemini Research Institute. Retrieved January 30, 2023, from https:// prod.ucwe.capgemini.com/wp-content/uploads/2022/10/CRI_Sustainability-in-Automotive_18102022.pdf
- Capital IQa:b:c, S. (n.d.). *Public company profile*. Retrieved March 1, 2023, from https://www.capitaliq.com
- Caputo, F., Leopizzi, R., Pizzi, S., & Milone, V. (2020). The non-financial reporting harmonization in europe: Evolutionary pathways related to the transposition of the directive 95/2014/EU within the italian context. Sustainability, 12(1), 92. https://doi.org/10. 3390/su12010092
- ChatGPT. (n.d.). ChatGPT 4.0. Retrieved April 18, 2023, from https://chat.openai.com/

- Corazza, L., Truant, E., Scagnelli, S. D., & Mio, C. (2020). Sustainability reporting after the costa concordia disaster: A multi-theory study on legitimacy, impression management and image restoration. Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 33(8), 1909– 1941. https://doi.org/10.1108/AAAJ-05-2018-3488
- Creswell, J. W. (2014). Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches (4th ed). SAGE Publications.
- Deegan, C. (2002). Introduction: The legitimising effect of social and environmental disclosures – a theoretical foundation. Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 15(3), 282– 311. https://doi.org/10.1108/09513570210435852
- Erkens, M., Paugam, L., & Stolowy, H. (2015). Non-financial information: State of the art and research perspectives based on a bibliometric study. *Comptabilite Controle Audit*, 21(3), 15–92. Retrieved February 24, 2023, from https://www.cairn.info/revuecomptabilite-controle-audit-2015-3-page-15.htmf
- EuropeanComission. (2023). Corporate sustainability reporting. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://finance.ec/capital-markets-union-and-financial-markets/company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting/corporate-sustainability-reporting_en
- Feilzer, M. Y. (2010). Doing mixed methods research pragmatically: Implications for the rediscovery of pragmatism as a research paradigm. Journal of Mixed Methods Research, 4(1), 6–16. https://doi.org/10.1177/1558689809349691
- Finansinspektionen. (2022, January 18). Sustainability reporting. Retrieved May 2, 2023, from https://www.fi.se/en/sustainability/sustainability-regulations/sustainability-reporting/ reporting/fi.se/en/sustainability/sustainability-regulations/sustainability-reporting/
- Fisher, I. E., Garnsey, M. R., & Hughes, M. E. (2016). Natural language processing in accounting, auditing and finance: A synthesis of the literature with a roadmap for future research. *Intelligent Systems in Accounting, Finance and Management*, 23(3), 157– 214. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/isaf.1386
- Gallego-Álvarez, I., Prado-Lorenzo, J.-M., Rodríguez-Domínguez, L., & García-Sánchez, I.-M. (2010). Are social and environmental practices a marketing tool? empirical evidence for the biggest european companies (D. Lamond & R. Dwyer, Eds.). Management Decision, 48(10), 1440–1455. https://doi.org/10.1108/00251741011090261
- GlobalNAPS. (2017, November 3). Non-financial reporting. Retrieved May 19, 2023, from https://globalnaps.org/issue/non-financial-reporting/
- GrantThornton. (2022). Mandatory sustainability reporting for large companies. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.grantthornton.global/en/insights/articles/ mandatory-sustainability-reporting-for-large-companies/
- Gray, R., Kouhy, R., & Lavers, S. (1995). Corporate social and environmental reporting: A review of the literature and a longitudinal study of UK disclosure. Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 8(2), 47–77. https://doi.org/10.1108/09513579510146996
- Gray, S. (1988). Towards a theory of cultural on the development of accounting influence systems internationally. *Abacus*, 24(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6281. 1988.tb00200.x
- GRI. (n.d.). Gri standards glossary. Retrieved May 2, 2023, from https://www.globalreporting. org/how-to-use-the-gri-standards/gri-standards-english-language/
- GRI. (2023). The global standards for sustainability impacts. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://finance.ec/capital-markets-union-and-financial-markets/company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting/corporate-sustainability-reporting_en

- GroupePSA. (2011). Sustainable development and annual report 2011. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.stellantis.com/en/responsibility/csr-disclosures
- GroupePSA. (2012). Corporate social responsibility 2012. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.stellantis.com/en/responsibility/csr-disclosures
- GroupePSA. (2014). 2014 csr report. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.stellantis.com/en/responsibility/csr-disclosures
- GroupePSA. (2016). Corporate social responsibility report 2016. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.stellantis.com/en/responsibility/csr-disclosures
- GroupePSA. (2017). Corporate social responsibility report 2017. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.stellantis.com/en/responsibility/csr-disclosures
- GroupePSA. (2018). Corporate social responsibility report 2018. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.stellantis.com/en/responsibility/csr-disclosures
- GroupePSA. (2019). Corporate social responsibility report 2019. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.stellantis.com/en/responsibility/csr-disclosures
- GroupePSA. (2020). Corporate social responsibility report 2020. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.stellantis.com/en/responsibility/csr-disclosures
- GroupePSA. (2021). Corporate social responsibility report 2021. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://www.stellantis.com/en/responsibility/csr-disclosures
- Haller, A., Link, M., & Groß, T. (2017). The term 'non-financial information' a semantic analysis of a key feature of current and future corporate reporting. Accounting in Europe, 14(3), 407–429. https://doi.org/10.1080/17449480.2017.1374548
- Herbohn, K., Walker, J., & Loo, H. Y. M. (2014). Corporate social responsibility: The link between sustainability disclosure and sustainability performance. Abacus, 50(4), 422– 459. https://doi.org/10.1111/abac.12036
- HSBC. (n.d.). Trends in ESG Disclosure in 10-K's. Retrieved May 18, 2023, from https: //www.gbm.hsbc.com/insights/markets/trends-in-esg-disclosure-in-10-ks
- Hsieh, H.-F., & Shannon, S. E. (2005). Three approaches to qualitative content analysis [Number: 9]. *Qualitative Health Research*, 15(9), 1277–1288. https://doi.org/10. 1177/1049732305276687
- IBM. (2021, March 6). *Stop word removal*. Retrieved May 23, 2023, from https://www.ibm. com/docs/en/watson-explorer/11.0.0?topic=analytics-stop-word-removal
- Kaushik, V., & Walsh, C. A. (2019). Pragmatism as a research paradigm and its implications for social work research. Social Sciences, 8(9), 255. https://doi.org/10.3390/ socsci8090255
- Lindgren, C., Huq, A. M., & Carling, K. (2021). Who are the intended users of CSR reports? insights from a data-driven approach. Sustainability, 13(3), 1070. https://doi.org/10. 3390/su13031070
- Lodhia, S., Kaur, A., & Kuruppu, S. C. (2022). The disclosure of sustainable development goals (SDGs) by the top 50 australian companies: Substantive or symbolic legitimation? *Meditari Accountancy Research*. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEDAR-05-2021-1297
- McCarthy, P. M., & Boonthum-Denecke, C. (Eds.). (2012). Applied natural language processing: Identification, investigation and resolution. IGI Global. https://doi.org/10.4018/ 978-1-60960-741-8
- McKinsey. (2021). Why the future involves e-mobility. Retrieved February 23, 2023, from https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/automotive-and-assembly/our-insights/why-the-automotive-future-is-electric

- Microsoft. (2023, May 23). *LLM AI tokens*. Retrieved May 23, 2023, from https://learn. microsoft.com/en-us/semantic-kernel/prompt-engineering/tokens
- Modell, S. (2010). Bridging the paradigm divide in management accounting research: The role of mixed methods approaches [The Relationship Between Theory and Practice in Management Accounting Paradigms in Accounting Research]. Management Accounting Research, 21(2), 124–129. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mar.2010.02.005
- Parker, L. (2015). Accounting historiography: Looking back to the future. Meditari Accountancy Research, 23(2), 142–157. https://doi.org/10.1108/MEDAR-03-2015-0018
- Patton, M. Q. (2002). Qualitative research and evaluation methods (3 ed). Sage Publications.
- Petrova, M., Sutcliffe, P., Fulford, K. W. M. B., & Dale, J. (2012). Search terms and a validated brief search filter to retrieve publications on health-related values in medline: A word frequency analysis study. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association:* JAMIA, 19(3), 479–488. https://doi.org/10.1136/amiajnl-2011-000243
- Pohl, T. (2021). How the automotive industry is driving toward a sustainable future. Retrieved May 23, 2023, from https://www.forbes.com/sites/sap/2021/12/01/how-the-automotive-industry-is-driving-toward-a-sustainable-future/
- Rafstedt, V., & Lidvall, L. (2023, May 18). *Master thesis code*. Retrieved May 18, 2023, from https://github.com/ViktorRafstedt/Master_thesis
- Rajput, N. K., Grover, B. A., & Rathi, V. K. (2020). Word frequency and sentiment analysis of twitter messages during coronavirus pandemic. (arXiv:2004.03925). https://doi. org/10.48550/arXiv.2004.03925
- Roberts, I., Wentz, R., & Edwards, P. (2006). Car manufacturers and global road safety: A word frequency analysis of road safety documents. *Injury Prevention*, 12(5), 320–322. https://doi.org/10.1136/ip.2006.012849
- Seele, P., & Gatti, L. (2017). Greenwashing revisited: In search of a typology and accusationbased definition incorporating legitimacy strategies: Greenwashing revisited. Business Strategy and the Environment, 26(2), 239–252. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1912
- Singleton-Green, B., & Hodgkinson, R. (2013, December 12). Financial reporting disclosures: Market and regulatory failures. https://doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2366877
- Stanton, P., & Stanton, J. (2002). Corporate annual reports: Research perspectives used. Accounting, Auditing & Accountability Journal, 15(4), 478–500. https://doi.org/10. 1108/09513570210440568
- Stellantis. (2021, January 16). The merger of FCA and groupe PSA has been completed. Retrieved March 1, 2023, from https://www.stellantis.com/en/news/press-releases/ 2021/january/the-merger-of-fca-and-groupe-psa-has-been-completed
- Stolowy, H., & Paugam, L. (2018). The expansion of non-financial reporting: An exploratory study. Accounting and Business Research, 48(5), 525–548. https://doi.org/10.1080/ 00014788.2018.1470141
- TowardsDataScience. (2022, July 27). Text preprocessing in natural language processing using python [Medium]. Retrieved May 23, 2023, from https://towardsdatascience.com/text-preprocessing-in-natural-language-processing-using-python-6113ff5decd8
- UN. (n.d.). Background on the goals, united nations development programme [UNDP]. Retrieved May 9, 2023, from https://www.undp.org/sdg-accelerator/background-goals
- Van Rossum, G., & Drake, F. L. (2009). Python 3 reference manual. CreateSpace.

- Villiers, C., Venter, E. R., & Hsiao, P.-C. K. (2017). Integrated reporting: Background, measurement issues, approaches and an agenda for future research. Accounting & Finance, 57(4), 937–959. https://doi.org/10.1111/acfi.12246
- Volkswagen. (2011). Sustainability report 2011. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https: //www.volkswagenag.com/en/sustainability/reporting-and-esg-performance/ sustainability-report.html#
- Volkswagen. (2012). Sustainability report 2012. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https: //www.volkswagenag.com/en/sustainability/reporting-and-esg-performance/ sustainability-report.html#
- Volkswagen. (2013). Sustainability report 2013. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https: //www.volkswagenag.com/en/sustainability/reporting-and-esg-performance/ sustainability-report.html#
- Volkswagen. (2014). Sustainability report 2014. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https: //www.volkswagenag.com/en/sustainability/reporting-and-esg-performance/ sustainability-report.html#
- Volkswagen. (2016). Sustainability report 2016. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https: //www.volkswagenag.com/en/sustainability/reporting-and-esg-performance/ sustainability-report.html#
- Volkswagen. (2017). Sustainability report 2017. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https: //www.volkswagenag.com/en/sustainability/reporting-and-esg-performance/ sustainability-report.html#
- Volkswagen. (2018). Sustainability report 2018. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https: //www.volkswagenag.com/en/sustainability/reporting-and-esg-performance/ sustainability-report.html#
- Volkswagen. (2019). Sustainability report 2019. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https: //www.volkswagenag.com/en/sustainability/reporting-and-esg-performance/ sustainability-report.html#
- Volkswagen. (2020). Sustainability report 2020. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https: //www.volkswagenag.com/en/sustainability/reporting-and-esg-performance/ sustainability-report.html#
- Volkswagen. (2021). Sustainability report 2021. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https: //www.volkswagenag.com/en/sustainability/reporting-and-esg-performance/ sustainability-report.html#
- Volkswagen emissions scandal [Page Version ID: 1150951413]. (2023, April 21). Retrieved May 2, 2023, from https://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Volkswagen_emissions_ scandal&oldid=1150951413
- VolvoCars. (2011). Gri report 2011. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://investors. volvocars.com/en/financial-information/results-centre
- VolvoCars. (2012). Sustainability report 2012. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://investors.volvocars.com/en/financial-information/results-centre
- VolvoCars. (2013). Sustainability report 2013. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://investors.volvocars.com/en/financial-information/results-centre
- VolvoCars. (2014). Sustainability report 2014. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://investors.volvocars.com/en/financial-information/results-centre
- VolvoCars. (2015). Sustainability report 2015. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://investors.volvocars.com/en/financial-information/results-centre

- VolvoCars. (2016). Volvo car group annual report 2016. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://investors.volvocars.com/en/financial-information/results-centre
- VolvoCars. (2017). Volvo car group annual report 2017. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://investors.volvocars.com/en/financial-information/results-centre
- VolvoCars. (2018). Volvo car group annual report 2018. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://investors.volvocars.com/en/financial-information/results-centre
- VolvoCars. (2019). Volvo car group annual report 2019. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://investors.volvocars.com/en/financial-information/results-centre
- VolvoCars. (2020). Volvo car group annual report 2020. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://investors.volvocars.com/en/financial-information/results-centre
- VolvoCars. (2021). Volvo car group annual and sustainability report 2021. Retrieved February 27, 2023, from https://investors.volvocars.com/en/financial-information/resultscentre
- VolvoCars. (2023). *Electrification*. Retrieved February 23, 2023, from https://group.volvocars. com/company/innovation/electrification
- Weber, R. P. (1990). Basic content analysis. Sage Publications.

Appendix

A.1 Appendix 1

esg_keywords = ['air', 'biodiversity', 'carbon', 'circularity', 'climate', 'compliance', 'community', 'diversity', 'emission', 'energy', 'ethic', 'governance', 'greenhouse', 'hazardous', 'human', 'inclusion', 'land', 'labor', 'pollution', 'recycling', 'renewable', 'risk', 'social', 'stakeholder', 'sustainability', 'supply', 'transparency', 'water', 'efficiency', 'health', 'safety', 'chain', 'management', 'alternative', 'autonomous', 'biofuel', 'catalyst', 'charge', 'clean', 'collaboration', 'conservation', 'consumption', 'demand', 'depletion', 'development', 'digital', 'disclosure', 'effluent', 'electrification', 'empathy', 'endangered', 'engagement', 'engineering', 'environmental', 'ethical', 'extinction', 'fleet', 'green', 'habitat', 'hybrid', 'impact', 'infrastructure', 'innovation', 'just', 'local', 'low', 'materiality', 'mobility', 'natural', 'nonrenewable', 'oil', 'particulate', 'planet', 'plastic', 'powertrain', 'provenance', 'quality', 'range', 'recyclable', 'regulation', 'renewable', 'resilience', 'responsibility', 'reuse', 'smart', 'stewardship', 'sustainable', 'technology', 'transportation', 'urban', 'waste', 'wellbeing', 'wildlife', 'emissionless', 'electric', 'bioenergy', 'biomaterial', 'upcycling', 'solar', 'ecodesign', 'offset', 'microplastic', 'e-waste', 'afforestation', 'reforestation', 'decarbonization', 'accident' 'bikeability', 'walkability', 'noise', 'bioeconomy', 'low-carbon', 'retrofit', 'cogeneration', 'degrowth', 'biodegradable', 'zero-waste', 'carpooling', 'ridesharing', 'emobility', 'xeriscaping', 'remanufacturing', 'regenerative', 'telecommuting', 'refurbishment', 'upgradable', 'public', 'adaptation', 'mitigation', 'volatility', 'traceability', 'reforestation', 'microgrid', 'co2-neutral', 'remediation', 'revitalization', 'multimodal', 'intermodal', 'interconnected', 'livability', 'reusability', 'repurposing', 'eco-efficiency', 'air-quality', 'carbon-neutral', 'cogeneration', 'greenbuilding', 'eco-city', 'renewable', 'bioplastic', 'biodegradation', 'bioremediation', 'permaculture', 'agroforestry', 'geothermal', 'wind', 'hydropower', 'carbon-sequestration', 'carbon-capturing', 'carsharing', 'scootersharing', 'bikesharing', 'eco-driving', 'composting', "capture"

(Amount of words: 141)

A.2 Appendix 2

Promt given to ChatGPT:

"Hello, we are developing a word list containing sustainability related words which will be used to filter out all non-sustainability related words in sustainability reports. The sustainability reports comes from european automotive firms. Below, we will provide you with our current list, please extend it with as many words as you can come up with, rather too many words than too few (preferably, we would like the final list to contain more than 100 words).

esg keywords = ["sustainability", "diversity", "solar", "wind", "hydro", "emission", "renewable", "energy", "efficiency", "electric", "hybrid", "pollution", "climate", "biofuel", "recycling", "circularity", "green", "biodiversity", "conservation", "carpooling", "ridesharing", "carbon-neutral", "decarbonization", "water", "air-quality", "waste", "social", "community", "ethical", "transparency", "stakeholder", "labor", "inclusion", "innovation"]" Response: "Hello! I understand that you're looking for an extensive list of sustainabilityrelated words to filter European automotive sustainability reports. I'm happy to help you expand your current list. Here's a selection of additional words and phrases that could be relevant to your project:

(Appendix 1) "

- 350

A.3 Appendix 3

management -	113	213	281	283	243	372	311	258	275	336
sustainability -	188	307	239	230	297	225	206	203	242	261
emission	110	186	164	181	204	151	151	147	130	130
emission -	142	100	104	101	204	117	04	147	130	130
environmental -	14.3	1/5	189	240	208	117	94	94	115	138
risk -	- 39	108	94	97	98	111	115	169	200	230
development -	108	102	144	155	190	103	78	87	71	99
eneray -	136	140	100	109	114	76	75	82	87	75
mobility -	89	82	75	93	154	92	87	127	103	85
compliance -	35	0/	75	71	73	71	78	137	167	171
compliance -		24	,,,,	11	100	71	70	101	107	
social -	49	98	81	98	100	78	/4	20	5/	00
responsibility -	57	81	60	81	84	81	48	84	97	78
stakeholder -	- 39	65	83	78	118	89	77	57	69	57
water -	68	119	82	66	103	42	53	31	39	38
consumption -	70	102	83	100	113	50	35	74	24	20
unsta	22	50	51	61	02	65	67	52	56	50
waste -	35	30	31	20	10	0.5	120	35	20	32
gri -	13	24	33	28	19	147	129	45	38	12
impact -	37	48	31	59	57	56	40	57	66	89
chain -	9	23	23	33	41	47	66	90	98	97
supply -	27	29	26	36	37	32	54	85	98	103
technology -	65	51	66	67	77	25	37	29	25	67
acciniology -	15	15	60	72	56	52	20	40	52	44
sarety -	40	40	00	75	30	50	39	40	32	44
human -	14	31	16	29	31	69	42	84	89	102
electric -	36	41	53	61	64	22	32	85	42	52
health -	28	48	74	74	41	33	35	34	31	35
dimate -	23	63	42	34	29	25	29	47	51	74
austity -	23	35	47	44	72	36	54	53	26	26
quality floor	26	20	45	20	26	12	40	60	15	10
lieet -	20	30	40	29	20	42	40	00	40	42
efficiency -	65	/6	41	52	00	18	18	25	21	15
local -	30	38	78	62	70	27	27	18	17	19
range -	37	48	48	69	73	25	29	18	18	17
diversity -	16	28	19	23	29	34	44	55	33	69
recycling -	23	26	22	53	40	30	0	17	27	31
lecyching	27	57	20	24	-10	5	7	14	22	22
green -	21	57	30	24	20	5	/	14	32	32
engagement -	16	15	34	24	27	31	28	21	26	31
governance -	5	11	16	32	16	33	31	22	40	30
disclosure -	13	14	20	16	7	36	39	22	23	37
biodiversity -	22	53	28	28	20	25	22	3	2	14
public -	15	27	26	21	26	13	10	23	18	17
digital	4	2	20	16	10	12	24	50	36	24
aigitai -	4	2	2	10	19	15	34	30	30	24
decarbonization -	0	0	0	0	4	9	19	39	62	67
urban -	27	18	27	22	46	8	12	17	12	10
hybrid -	16	32	32	45	23	14	8	4	4	9
carbon -	13	17	13	17	22	9	10	21	23	39
regulation -	5	10	12	10	17	11	20	23	28	37
regulation -	26	20	30	20	26	20	12	2	20	1
conservation -	20	30	30	20	20	20	12	2	2	4
natural -	15	-10	20	21	28	15	15	12	9	11
just -	10	31	36	32	19	9	1	14	12	10
renewable -	11	20	14	13	11	13	10	19	27	28
engineering -	10	15	19	31	25	10	8	6	5	23
domand -	14	13	13	28	34	13	10	0	7	6
collaboratio-	11	11	11	7	20	10	0	25	10	15
collaboration -	11	11	11	/	28	10	9	25	18	15
innovation -	9	17	17	21	31	10	6	5	9	16
materiality -	8	23	16	16	14	10	16	8	18	10
infrastructure -	11	13	9	13	22	13	11	17	15	13
air -	20	17	5	4	23	4	14	31	8	6
transparency	6	15	0	11	8	7	12	72	10	72
uansparency -	0	10	9	10	0	10	12	25	19	17
labor -	3	3	0	19	8	19	18	12	19	1/
community -	7	11	27	10	28	14	8	5	3	6
greenhouse -	10	10	16	9	11	5	5	15	10	21
noise -	5	45	21	16	11	7	3	1	1	1
emobility -	1	1	4	2	8	18	23	20	14	11
nowortroi-	12	16	10	14	16	17	2	0	0	5
powertrain -	7	10	19	14	10	-	13	-	-	-
alternative -	7	5	14	12	12	8	13	7	6	1
ethical -	7	10	5	12	14	6	5	9	3	5
inclusion -	5	13	12	10	10	3	4	1	6	8
autonomous -	0	0	0	4	10	8	14	13	9	10
hazardour -	5	7	7	11	7	10	7	5	6	3
nazaruous *	-	1	,	**	,	20	1	5		2

Word counts by year: Volkswagen

- 300 - 250 - 200 - 150

	2027	2022	2013	2024	2020	2027	2020	2029	2020	2022		-
multimodal -	3	2	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0		
endangered -	1	2	2	2	0	0	0	0	0	0		
resilience -	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	1	4	2		
reforestation -	2	2	3	0	0	1	0	0	0	0		
geothermal -	0	2	4	2	0	0	0	0	0	0		
ridesharing -	0	0	0	0	1	2	3	3	1	0		
regenerative -	0	0	4	1	0	0	6	0	0	0		
hydropower -	0	2	8	1	0	0	0	1	0	0		
effluent -	0	0	1	4	1	2	3	0	1	0		
adaptation -	1	1	1	2	2	0	1	1	0	4		
wellbeing -	1	3	3	1	1	1	0	0	2	2		
recyclable -	1	2	0	1	1	2	1	1	0	5		
planet -	2	1	2	1	3	2	3	1	0	0		50
conceneration	0	1	3	Ő	6	1	1	2	1	0		- 50
canture]	2	0	0	0	6	1	0	0	3	4		
	2	1	4	2	4	0	1	0	0	5		
etnic -	2	4	5	3	0	2	2	0	0	0		
mitigation -	2	3	1	2	5	2	2	5	1	1/		
land -	8	2	5	2	2	2	1	0	0	1		
reuse -	0	3	1	1	4	1	4	4	0	0		
offset -	3	3	3	3	1	2	0	6	5	6		
smart -	2	5	5	4	12	6	5	3	0	1		
pollution -	2	2	0	3	9	2	13	6	4	4		
particulate -	2	2	2	3	11	9	8	3	5	2		
charge -	3	4	2	7	10	3	2	5	10	2		
electrification -	1	1	0	6	10	8	7	3	3	11		F 100
carsharing -	7	7	8	6	10	0	5	8	0	0		100
plastic -	1	0	9	2	4	2	2	5	7	22		
dean -	4	5	6	7	7	3	8	3	9	3		
low -	7	10	15	4	4	2	7	3	4	5		
solar -	8	15	16	7	5	0	0	2	2	7		
transportation -	0	4	3	10	7	9	5	8	9	13		

Word counts by year: Volvo Cars												
risk -	33	29	43	47	10	191	250	244	221	283	363	
sustainability -	59 126	93 136	105	116	92	94	146	162	169	163	261	
satety -	92	107	105	102	72	90 69	67	97 60	136	164	205	
management -	59	51	79	81	35	116	114	117	136	145	197	
development -	71	72	64	82	37	128	130	123	95	91	155	
environmental -	102	127	166	159	60	29	36	32	30	28	35	
energy -	80	69	73	65	68	52	57	60	66	62	113	
technology -	24	50	50	62	24	35	70	66	67	85	104	
impact -	30	45	51	47	41	51	67	64	46	80	89	
governance -	27	18	20	24	16	32	35	38	41	45	229	
electric -	20	34	28	21	11	20	36	35	49	88	160	
rocponcibility	65	78	42	47	10	25	27	34	32	36	53	
supply -	15	19	19	21	21	18	30	53	54	57	102	
waste -	32	43	47	45	23	23	24	23	36	34	53	
chain -	19	18	19	19	18	17	26	52	49	53	88	
quality -	38	31	58	52	19	23	26	23	29	38	41	
climate -	25	17	12	12	16	23	21	21	18	61	151	
stakeholder -	45	44	44	43	36	17	32	32	24	26	32	
health -	50	43	53	57	39	28	29	28	20	14	12	
mobility -	14	15	23	21	З	22	54	74	44	34	35	
ethic -	2	37	23	40	34	27	43	35	36	24	37	
diversity -	44	43	61	55	33	11	24	20	14	14	13	
human -	58	35	30	26	19	22	48	33	18	16	25	
water -	22	49	48	47	12	23	32	26	26	26	39	
- social electrification	10	16	13	40	6	24	35	20	39	41	53	
consumption	39	47	45	40	13	11	16	10	15	12	11	
efficiency -	20	17	21	32	32	26	10	16	21	23	31	
autonomous -	0	12	18	24	20	31	38	32	13	38	24	
ethical -	4	15	10	13	22	17	18	24	37	28	54	
engagement -	19	19	14	18	17	9	17	24	26	34	41	
regulation -	21	20	28	26	4	19	22	20	20	21	31	
demand -	19	15	11	14	2	17	35	30	26	27	35	
hybrid -	14	18	19	13	9	20	30	21	35	24	28	
local -	20	26	22	23	14	15	25	21	10	15	26	
range -	22	21	19	21	9	17	15	17	24	9	20	
carbon -	17	11	10	7	3	4	6	4	11	32	63	
- public	27	1/	25	28	5	13	9	9	/	8	18	
engineering -	4	12	13	23	4	10	17	19	10	10	36	
disclosure -	0	5	0	1	3	15	15	32	25	33	24	
air -	13	14	24	21	16	8	6	7	19	16	11	
innovation -	2	6	17	18	12	19	17	16	12	6	12	
areen -	6	3	3	6	0	5	2	2	з	51	46	
fleet -	7	12	22	15	8	6	3	10	12	11	19	
low -	7	8	10	14	1	7	8	17	15	11	16	
renewable -	11	12	13	13	8	4	5	4	6	20	13	
digital -	0	1	0	1	0	16	13	21	22	19	14	
community -	14	14	15	12	2	1	3	3	5	4	16	
natural -	11	6	10	11	10	9	11	11	4	3	3	
offset -	0	1	0	0	0	10	14	19	16	13	12	
alternative -	6	7	10	9	2	4	0	5	5	5	7	
inclusion -	3	9	11	11	4	4	2	7	5	6	14	
transportation	3	7	14	13	1	2	2	4	9	8	8	
powertrain -	1	0	5	7	1	9	2	1	5	6	32	
land -	3	3	2	0	0	5	5	9	12	8	21	
clean -	2	4	6	8	4	5	10	7	0	2	8	
infrastructure -	5	4	8	5	1	5	6	3	7	2	8	
emanufacturing -	0	0	4	6	З	З	З	6	9	9	11	
plastic -	5	3	З	2	1	0	3	18	7	4	7	
wellbeing -	2	1	0	З	9	1	З	5	6	8	11	
oil -	7	7	8	8	6	2	2	З	0	2	3	
hazardous -	7	9	10	9	2	2	4	1	1	1	1	
greenhouse -	8	8	5	4	4	3	1	0	2	2	6	
materiality -	4	1	0	0	7	5	8	8	3	4	2	
transparency -	4	2	1	1	1	2	0	7	6	6	12	

word counts by year: v	/olvo	Cars
------------------------	-------	------



	2027	2022	2013	2014	2015	2010	2021	2018	2019	2020	2022		
ndesharing -	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	2	0	0	0		⊥ ₀
returbishment -	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3		
intermodal -	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1		
carpooling -	0	0	0	0	0	2	1	0	0	0	0		
remediation -	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	0	0	0	0		
interconnected -	1	1	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
catalyst -	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	1	1		
resilience -	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	1		
recyclable -	0	0	1	1	2	1	1	1	1	0	0		
noise -	1	2	1	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		
adaptation -	2	1	1	2	0	0	0	0	0	2	0		
effluent -	3	2	1	1	0	0	0	0	2	0	0		
carsharing -	0	0	2	0	0	2	2	1	0	0	2		
particulate -	2	1	4	4	0	0	0	0	0	0	0		F 50
solar -	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	1	5	4	2		EC
circularity -	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	11		
labor -	0	0	7	6	0	2	1	0	0	0	0		
hydropower -	2	2	3	4	2	1	2	2	2	0	0		
traceability -	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	3	6	6	5		
conservation -	3	5	6	5	0	0	0	1	1	1	1		
capture -	0	0	0	2	0	2	3	5	5	4	3		
pollution -	1	1	з	2	2	0	2	7	2	0	6		
biodiversity -	6	4	4	0	0	0	0	0	1	1	11		
volatility -	0	1	0	0	0	4	4	3	3	7	6		
urban -	1	4	2	1	0	1	4	6	3	з	4		
reuse -	0	2	0	0	2	0	0	3	7	6	10		
charge -	1	3	3	2	0	3	3	4	5	3	8		
planet -	2	4	0	0	з	3	2	4	8	4	6		- 100
smart -	1	4	2	5	3	3	5	4	5	1	4		
- just -	2	5	4	3	1	4	4	3	3	6	4		
mitigation -	2	1	0	1	4	1	6	6	5	9	6		

			word	a counts	by year	. Groupe	FSA		
emission ·	26	263	305	413	449	497	498	498	567
risk	4	183	266	348	360	395	479	503	686
management ·	26	239	310	399	3/9	433	428	443	4/3
environmental ·		247	270	439	455	456	367	346	356
development -	84	203	236	319	332	327	369	386	447
safety -	15	234	287	318	322	342	361	374	369
impact -	6	148	236	305	322	345	347	357	418
social ·	12	171	294	283	260	274	270	282	266
quality -	11	74	185	290	303	289	333	332	243
human ·	9	83	170	208	219	226	290	304	337
energy -	6	123	157	214	233	241	249	257	319
sustainability -	61	127	149	271	273	281	205	203	226
waste ·	3	117	180	267	265	275	236	231	221
local -	7	157	190	234	214	205	219	223	214
health ·	3	144	184	181	179	189	211	239	248
technology -	23	122	157	245	182	194	210	200	240
consumption -	10	115	170	254	256	218	192	212	140
compliance -	6	58	95	181	202	233	225	230	189
supply -	8	29	85	141	161	171	176	194	365
chain -	8	23	11	157	179	1/6	162	186	304
ethic ·	2	93	129	137	147	150	199	204	91
water	1 1	05	103	14.5	130	147	120	102	203
innovation -	1 1	90	149	164	150	129	158	150	120
stakenolder -	2	40	02	125	139	105	157	159	138
electric	18	63	90 //7	123	1/18	140	155	154	146
electric -	6	99	96	114	118	122	112	100	163
dimate -	0	35	23	36	43	62	224	230	271
responsibility -	12	96	94	121	128	118	109	117	92
nesponsibility -	0	18	22	21	13	90	91	91	482
public -	2	55	71	110	109	132	128	123	91
carbon ·	15	102	76	90	84	82	76	88	186
air -	1	41	74	104	110	109	113	115	100
natural -	5	50	63	62	62	69	99	102	181
recycling	2	48	79	97	103	89	85	90	81
diversity	0	57	60	69	72	59	61	64	165
community ·	8	81	74	74	57	55	55	57	128
ethical -	2	68	67	95	95	93	46	44	66
efficiency -	4	53	48	73	69	78	74	82	90
range -	21	48	46	6B	75	75	70	76	78
hybrid -	26	77	51	69	60	81	74	67	45
fleet -	7	22	44	72	72	88	86	76	57
autonomous -	1	2	8	72	71	75	70	71	72
transparency -	0	11	30	70	69	74	59	57	52
particulate	0	38	44	62	65	62	53	54	32
digital ·	0	1	10	57	58	54	55	60	78
green -	8	33	25	dt	39	50	51	50	/1
biodiversity -		28	41	48	50	38	40	45	74
greenhouse ·	2	21	5/	32		30	37	52	52
wendering -	4	14	10	25	41	30 //5	20	33	75
engineering -	4	14	19	65	56	45	29 45	32	0
carsnaring ·	3	12	10	32	30	30	45	52	43
low-	2	46	23	30	27	28	34	32	44
hazardous	0	18	24	41	36	35	27	29	36
renewable -	3	13	15	42	42	30	25	32	39
urhan -	1	23	45	24	36	29	27	24	25
pollution -	0	27	27	35	31	29	30	30	19
inclusion ·	0	6	17	13	19	28	28	26	88
collaboration -	0	7	27	35	32	26	30	34	32
demand	9	25	11	18	27	26	29	28	48
powertrain -	4	7	20	22	17	31	36	42	42
reuse -	0	8	18	25	29	25	28	26	41
infrastructure	0	13	13	23	24	27	26	25	27
alternative ·	1	15	10	21	20	22	28	29	30
plastic ·	0	16	18	23	22	24	22	21	22
electrification	1	0	1	13	4	13	13	13	106
engagement -	0	5	4	7	10	17	19	22	45
transportation ·	1	9	13	8	13	23	22	21	18

Word counts by year: GroupePSA

- 600

- 500

- 400

61

- 300

oil -	1	27	19	17	14	13	14	14	5	- 200
dean -	0	10	7	19	16	19	16	17	12	200
disclosure -	0	10	8	7	6	17	18	21	26	
labor -	0	0	0	0	0	4	5	6	95	
smart -	0	2	6	22	13	22	14	10	15	
materiality -	0	0	16	18	11	10	10	14	20	
ecodesign -	3	10	10	10	16	14	10	10	10	
effluent -	0	13	13	14	13	11	10	10	2	
traceability -	0	4	4	10	14	14	12	12	15	
land -	0	8	11	11	14	11	8	7	10	
adaptation -	0	4	8	6	9	12	16	17	7	
cogeneration -	0	1	3	3	2	23	17	15	8	
just -	2	10	8	7	8	5	7	8	15	
recyclable -	2	8	6	8	9	9	8	9	8	
remanufacturing -	0	0	0	0	0	16	16	18	17	
habitat -	0	10	9	5	3	7	6	6	20	- 100
noise -	0	11	3	4	6	6	6	5	11	
catalyst -	0	1	3	3	7	8	8	8	4	
remediation -	0	3	2	2	2	3	7	5	18	
multimodal -	0	6	4	4	4	5	5	5	5	
depletion -	0	3	5	4	4	б	5	5	5	
mitigation -	0	1	0	0	0	1	3	3	22	
offset -	0	3	3	2	6	3	4	3	6	
resilience -	0	0	0	1	1	0	6	9	12	
carpooling -	0	8	6	3	6	3	2	0	0	
conservation -	1	3	4	1	0	1	1	1	15	
emobility -	0	0	0	0	0	0	6	6	14	
reforestation -	1	4	4	6	2	2	2	2	2	
planet -	0	0	0	0	1	2	4	3	12	
solar -	0	0	1	4	3	1	2	3	8	
	2027	2022	2024	2020	2027	2020	2029	2020	2022	

A.4 Appendix 4

List of references to reports included in study

- "Sustainability Report 2011" (Volkswagen, 2011)
- "Sustainability Report 2012" (Volkswagen, 2012)
- "Sustainability Report 2013" (Volkswagen, 2013)
- "Sustainability Report 2014" (Volkswagen, 2014)
- "Sustainability Report 2016" (Volkswagen, 2016)
- "Sustainability Report 2017" (Volkswagen, 2017)
- "Sustainability Report 2018" (Volkswagen, 2018)
- "Sustainability Report 2019" (Volkswagen, 2019)
- "Sustainability Report 2020" (Volkswagen, 2020)
- "Sustainability Report 2021" (Volkswagen, 2021)
- "Sustainable Development and Annual Report 2011" (GroupePSA, 2011)
- "Corporate Social Responsibility 2012" (GroupePSA, 2012)
- "2014 CSR Report" (GroupePSA, 2014)
- "Corporate Social Responsibility Report 2016" (GroupePSA, 2016)
- "Corporate Social Responsibility Report 2017" (GroupePSA, 2017)
- "Corporate Social Responsibility Report 2018" (GroupePSA, 2018)
- "Corporate Social Responsibility Report 2019" (GroupePSA, 2019)
- "Corporate Social Responsibility Report 2020" (GroupePSA, 2020)
- "Corporate Social Responsibility Report 2021" (GroupePSA, 2021)
- "GRI Report 2011" (VolvoCars, 2011)
- "Sustainability Report 2012" (VolvoCars, 2012)
- "Sustainability Report 2013" (VolvoCars, 2013)
- "Sustainability Report 2014" (VolvoCars, 2014)
- "Sustainability Report 2015" (VolvoCars, 2015)
- "Volvo Car Group Annual Report 2016" (VolvoCars, 2016)
- "Volvo Car Group Annual Report 2017" (VolvoCars, 2017)
- "Volvo Car Group Annual Report 2018" (VolvoCars, 2018)
- "Volvo Car Group Annual Report 2019" (VolvoCars, 2019)
- "Volvo Car Group Annual Report 2020" (VolvoCars, 2020)
- "Volvo Car Group Annual and Sustainability Report 2021" (VolvoCars, 2021)